

DClinDent Periodontology Year 3

Dissertation

Analysis of Exosomes and molecular biomarkers in saliva and the gingival crevicular fluid in patients with periodontal disease.

Ioanna Anastasiadou

Student Number

180355802

Barts and the London School of Medicine & Dentistry

Supervisors:

Dr Fabian Flores-Borja

Dr Eleni Hagi-Pavli

Professor Nikolaos Donos

Abstract

Aim: The aim of this pilot study is to evaluate if biomarker signature(s) of exosomal miRNAs, IL-1 β and IL-6 isolated from GCF and saliva exist and can be used as feasible biomarkers of periodontal treatment.

Methods: In this pilot study, 12 randomly selected patients were included. The patients were divided in three groups (4 patients per group) and would receive either a repeated non-surgical periodontal treatment (NSPT) or two different types of periodontal surgery techniques-Resective (RPFO) or a Conservative flap (Simplified Papillae Preservation Flap (SPPF))

At baseline and prior to any hygiene instructions given, or commencement of their periodontal treatment, saliva and gingival crevicular fluid (GCF) were collected. The samples were immediately stored at -80°C and processed when required for analysis. GCF samples were processed with a centrifugation protocol for exosomes and microRNA (miRNA) extraction and analysis. Saliva samples were also processed for exosome isolation and miRNA extraction using the same centrifugation protocol. Also, the saliva supernatants of these samples were analysed using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay method (ELISA) for detection of IL-1 β and IL-6 cytokines. Data was analysed and linked to the clinical parameters; dental plaque, periodontal probing depth (PPD), gingival recession (REC), bleeding on probing (BoP) and clinical attachment loss (CAL) obtained at baseline for these patients.

Results: Nanoparticle tracking analysis showed that extracellular vesicles isolated from GCF showed multiple peaks, indicating the presence of vesicles of different sizes and low concentration.

Processing of saliva produced vesicles with a homogeneous size (close to that reported for exosomes) and a relatively good concentration. However, quality control analysis revealed that neither GCF nor saliva produced enough amounts of good quality RNA for miRNA expression analysis. Analysis of saliva samples allowed detection of IL-1 β , (but not IL-6) across the three different groups of patients' samples. Furthermore, the level of IL-1 β was not significantly different in the three patients' groups and did not correlate with any clinical parameters that define periodontitis.

Conclusions: At the protein level, at least by analysis of IL-1 β expression (a cytokine closely associated with periodontitis), the randomly selected samples from patients at baseline time point, suggests a homogenous set of samples that would allow detection of molecular changes related to treatment intervention. Our results suggest sampling, storing and preservation

protocols used in this study, might be inadequate for the investigation and evaluation of RNA related biomarker signatures from saliva and GCF samples.

Contents

Abstract	3
List of Figures	6
List of Tables	7
List of Abbreviations	8
Introduction	9
Periodontal Treatment	9
Periodontal disease treatment steps	10
Saliva	22
GCF	26
Hypothesis, Aims and Objectives	27
Materials and Methods	27
RNA extraction process	31
Acknowledgments	
References	50

List of Figures

Figure 1 Illustration of Exosome Biogenesis (A) and content (B). Modified from (Boriachek <i>et al.</i> , 2018)
Figure 2 Biogenesis and degradation of miRNA19
Figure 3 Collection of GCF with absorbing paper strips of standardised size
Figure 4. Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis of exosomes derived from GCF samples
Figure 5. Nanoparticle tracking analysis of exosomes derived from saliva samples
Figure 6. Bioanalyzer quality control assessment of RNA isolated from GCF-derived
Figure 7. Bioanalyzer quality control assessment of RNA isolated from saliva-derived exosomes
Figure 8. Levels of IL-1b and IL-6 in saliva samples from patients undergoing three different procedures for periodontitis
Figure 9. ANOVA analysis of clinical parameters at baseline and bar charts in relation to the
IL-1β cytokine following ELISA protein analysis

List of Tables

Table 1 Saliva Exosomal Biomarkers in Periodontitis.	14
Table 2 miRNAs and regulation of targeted genes and effect on cellular function	21
Table 3. GCF and Saliva collection samples, timeline of collection and treatment modality	28
Table 4. Table with patients' periodontal clinical data, as collected at their basel examination.	ine 33
Table 5. Spearman r and P-values of clinical parameters.	43

List of Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Definition
AGO	Argonaut Proteins
AIDS	Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome
BoP	Bleeding on Probing
CAL	Clinical Attachment Loss
COVID-19	Coronavirus Disease 2019
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
EFP	European Federation of Periodontology
ELISA	Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay
EVs	Extracellular Vesicles
GCF	Gingival Crevicular Fluid
IL	Interleukin
miRNA	Micro – Ribonucleic Acid
MMP	Matrix Metalloproteinase
mRNA	Messenger Ribonucleic Acid
NSPT	Non-Surgical Periodontal Treatment
NTA	Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis
O/H	Oral Hygiene
PBMCs	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline
PDL	Periodontal ligament
P.g	Porphyromonas gingivalis
PMPR	Professional Mechanical Plaque Removal
Pol I or II	Polymerase I or II
PPD	Periodontal or Pocket Probing Depth
Pre-miRNA	Precursor – miRNA
QMUL	Queen Mary University of London
RIN	RNA Integrity Number
RPFO	Resective Periodontal Flap Surgery
RT	Room Temperature
SD	Subgingival Debridement (non-surgical)
SN	Supernatant
SPC	Supportive Periodontal Care
SPPF	Simplified Papilla Preservation Flap
Streptavidin-HRP	Streptavidin - Horseradish Peroxidase
TNF-α	Tumour Necrosis Factor - α

Introduction

According to the most recent classification, periodontitis is defined as a "chronic multifactorial inflammatory disease associated with dysbiotic plaque biofilm and characterized by progressive destruction of the tooth-supporting apparatus", resulting in tooth loss (Papapanou et al., 2018). The tissues affected by the disease are the gingival epithelium and the gingival connective tissue, the cementum, the periodontal ligament (PDL) and the alveolar bone of teeth. During disease, these tissues, present all the characteristics of a chronic disease, which are degradation, scaring and irreparable tissue break-down (Meyle and Chapple, 2015). The diagnosis of the disease is based on its hallmark characteristic, which is the clinical attachment loss (CAL). In particular, periodontitis is diagnosed when interproximal CAL of \geq 2mm, or \geq 3mm at any other given sites, to a minimum of 2 non-adjacent teeth is present (Papapanou et al., 2018). Furthermore, the number and proportions of teeth with probing pocket depths above specific thresholds (commonly >4 mm with BOP and \geq 6 mm), the number of teeth lost consequently to periodontitis, the number of teeth with intrabony lesions, and the number of teeth with furcation lesions are all significant descriptors of periodontitis. This needs to be confirmed radiographically, at the sites where the loss of bone is clinically noticeable. Additionally, the clinical diagnosis is supplemented with the inclusion of the bleeding on probing (BoP) sites, the pocket probing depths (PPD) and of teeth presenting CAL of ≥3mm and \geq 5mm (Papapanou *et al.*, 2018). Furthermore, the severity and complexity are recorded by staging periodontitis, numerically from I to IV, and the risk factors along with the rate of progression are expressed through grading, from A to C (Papapanou et al., 2018).

This latest classification divides the periodontal disease according to its pathophysiology in three distinguishable forms: i) the necrotizing type of periodontitis, ii) periodontitis as a manifestation of systemic diseases and iii) periodontitis. The last form corresponds to the chronic and aggressive periodontal diseases as described by the previous Classification in 1999 (Armitage, 1999).

Periodontal Treatment

The current concept of addressing and treating periodontitis is mainly based on the principle of controlling the risk factors associated with periodontal disease as well as biofilm control, which is the main causative factor of the disease. The dental biofilm, if not regularly removed, will consequently induce gingivitis (Loe, Theilade and Jensen, 1965), and in susceptible individuals progress to periodontitis (Murakami *et al.*, 2018). Dental biofilm removal is therefore of paramount importance in the prevention and treatment of periodontal disease (Chapple *et al.*, 2015). However, this refers to the part of alleviating the causative factor, when addressing and treating periodontitis. The ideal objective of periodontal treatment is the

healing, restitution and regeneration of the lesion caused by periodontitis, and to consecutively restore the function of teeth and mouth (Karring *et al.*, 1993).

Within this context, in the latest guidelines for the treatment of Stage I-III Periodontitis from the European Federation of Periodontology - EFP (Sanz *et al.*, 2020), periodontal treatment comprises of four distinct therapeutic phases: i) the first step addresses risk factors, brings the oral hygiene (O/H) to adequate levels and imply professional mechanical plaque removal (PRMP); ii) the second step proceeds to the non-surgical mechanical debridement of the involved teeth through prophylactic mechanical plaque removal (PMPR); iii) the third step addresses the residual pockets of >6mm, aiming at gaining access to subgingival areas through repeated instrumentation or surgery; iv) the fourth step includes the supportive periodontal care (SPC) where patients receive supporting periodontal therapy which comprises of possible re-diagnosis and treatment of re-infected sites, reinforcement of O/H and healthy lifestyle changes.

The overall endpoints of the above-mentioned steps are the resolution of the periodontal inflammation expressed by bleeding on probing, closure of the periodontal pockets (ideally ≤4mm), gain of clinical attachment, periodontal stability and restoration of the lost architecture and function of the periodontal apparatus.

Periodontal disease treatment steps

The therapeutic phases that are clinically employed for the treatment of periodontal disease have been proposed from the EFP (Sanz *et al.*, 2020) as S-3 clinical guidelines for the treatment of periodontitis stages I, II and III, comprising of four steps in therapy.

Non-surgical periodontal therapy (Step1 & Step2). The non-surgical periodontal treatment (NSPT) option that is provided to the 1st and 2nd step of the S-3 clinical guidelines for the treatment of periodontal disease. More specifically it includes the improvement of oral hygiene +/- professional mechanical plaque removal (PMPR), behavioural changes from the patient and control of risk factors related to periodontitis (Step 1) and the root surface instrumentation aiming at the removal of the dental biofilm and supra/sub-gingival calculus.

The NSPT treatment of periodontitis is the first line of treatment offered to patients when addressing periodontitis (Sanz *et al.*, 2020). It is the treatment which aims at rendering the dental root's environment free from the causative factor of periodontitis - the dental biofilm, and remove one of its most important retentive factors: the calculus (Timmerman and van der Weijden, 2006). It is considered a key step in the periodontal therapy that can achieve a mean pocket closure of 74% and bleeding on probing reduction of 62%, and is effective irrespectively the way of its delivery, by hand or ultrasonic-sonic instrumentation, in one or multiple sessions

of treatment (Suvan *et al.*, 2020). It is also noted that its impact is mostly beneficial in deeper periodontal pockets (\geq 7mm) than in the shallower ones (4-6mm), which are 2.5mm and 1.5mm of attachment gain, respectively. Suvan clearly states that this treatment modality alone, is possible to achieve endpoints in periodontal therapy (in terms of pocket closure), to such level, where further alternative treatment can be deemed unnecessary. Evidence supports that PMPR can limit the incidence of tooth loss (Trombelli, Franceschetti and Farina, 2015). However, repeated instrumentation (PMPR) for a prolonged period with these techniques (hand curettes and /or ultrasonic scalers), may cause some degree of root structure loss (Zappa *et al.*, 1991).

Following the completion of the NSPT, there is a stage where the results of the treatment are evaluated. This assessment is completed once the periodontal tissues have healed adequately, typically at approximately 12 weeks, and the purpose of it is to define the improvement or not of periodontitis. This is based on to what level, the endpoints of therapy have met, which are the closure of periodontal pockets to \leq 4mm - absence of PPD \geq 4mm with bleeding on probing, and absence of periodontal pockets of \geq 6mm (Sanz *et al.*, 2020; West *et al.*, 2021). The therapy is considered at this point successful, and the patient should be placed in a supportive periodontal treatment routine, to preserve and maintain the periodontal healthy status achieved. When this is not the case (pockets of 4 mm or more exhibiting bleeding on probing, or presence of deep periodontal pockets \geq 6mm), the 3rd step in therapy should be implemented, which offers two main options depending on the clinical outcomes and particularities found on evaluation: i) either repeat the NSPT, or ii) offer periodontal surgical options. As per the S-3 guidelines, the surgical options can be simple flap access, regenerative or resective periodontal surgery, all aiming at eliminating the non-responding periodontal sites following NSPT.

Periodontal surgery (Step 3): Throughout the years the periodontal flaps have developed from resective flaps to more conservative approaches which today are considered as the standard of care due to the improved clinical outcomes they present (Graziani *et al.*, 2018). Periodontal resective surgery includes a number of surgical techniques, comprising the resection of the soft tissues, and can include alveolar bone modification (Lindhe, 2015). It is interesting to mention that resective surgery is the less conservative of surgical therapeutic approaches, and compared to access flap techniques appears to be more effective in terms of probing pocket depth and clinical attachment levels (Polak *et al.*, 2020). Resective techniques aiming at reducing the pocket depth through removal of the soft and hard periodontal tissues, by altering the tissue morphology that enhances good oral hygiene levels. The method of osteoplasty is performed simultaneously to correct and re-establish bone morphology, allowing a more 'positive architecture' (Carnevale and Kaldahl, 2000). As periodontal tissues

are removed with this modality, an impact within the expression of specific healing patterns is expected, and in general to be reflected in the level of healing molecular cues.

The conservative flap is a group of flap techniques used in periodontal surgery aiming at preserving the papillary tissues. Some of the most commonly used flaps are the simplified papilla preservation flap, modified papilla preservation technique and the minimally invasive surgical technique (Cortellini, Prato and Tonetti, 1999; Cortellini, Prato and Tonetti, 1995; Cortellini and Tonetti, 2007). As a concept, it emerged in the mid 1980's (Takei et al., 1985), and was thoroughly tested and proposed in the 1990's. The complete preservation of gingival soft tissues aiming at primary closure on top of the applied regenerative materials and substances, was the target of the surgical procedures developing in the emergent era of periodontal regeneration, particularly during the critical early stages of healing (Cortellini, Prato and Tonetti, 1999; Harrel, 2015). These clinical advancements in flap design and handling have revolutionised surgery, allowing interdental wound failure to be reduced to less than 30% of all patients treated. This particular technique allows a faster re-vascularisation in the healing process (Retzepi, Tonetti and Donos, 2007b) when compared with more resective techniques. Based on this evidence, it is reasonable to expect for healing cues to emerge in the histological and molecular level, which will lead the healing pattern and provide a specific molecular signature characterising the conservative flap technique. Within this frame of investigation, biomarkers of periodontal disease have been studied following periodontal treatment, with results that are yet not conclusive (Zekeridou et al., 2017; Holmlund, Hänström and Lerner, 2004). However, research advocates for a certain level of molecular activity following surgical and non-surgical periodontal treatment, which seems to be fairly complex and requires further investigation.

Each of the above treatment modalities (NSPT and step 3-conservative approach) is expected/ speculated to have some differences on the type of wound healing that follows. The focus of this study is to define the particular traits and the expression of molecular markers that define the patients' response to treatment. Particularly, how this is exhibited within the expression of extracellular vesicles. These vesicles, as part of the broader category of microvesicles (MVs), and specifically exosomes, have attracted the attention as biological particles presenting potentials in diagnosis, prevention, and treatment for various medical conditions (Wang *et al.*, 2017). These are considered to contain biomarkers and as such, are expected to have the potential to provide additional information over standard clinical indices (Han, Bartold and Ivanovski, 2022).

A challenge of periodontitis that clinicians routinely encounter, is that its detection takes place after a noticeable amount of periodontal tissue destruction has occurred, notably CAL and alveolar bone recession. However, these clinical parameters cannot ascertain the current status of the disease, and although they provide information on the state of tissue destruction, they cannot with certainty predict the disease, nor determine the particular prognosis of the affected teeth in an accurate fashion. Therefore, the ability to detect the tendency and predisposition of patients to develop periodontitis, even before the expression of the above-mentioned clinical symptoms, would change the clinical practicing quite radically.

The element of prediction and determination of the clinical condition in periodontitis, is a concept which has given rise to clinical indexes, prognostication and maintenance systems (Matuliene *et al.*, 2008; McGuire and Nunn, 1996; Lang, Suvan and Tonetti, 2015; Löe, 1967; Lang *et al.*, 1986). Within their limitations, all these systems have provided the grounds to diagnose and foresee the outcome of periodontitis. However, these are in constant reviewing and have failed to give clinical accuracy for the purpose they have been proposed. Clinical and biological manifestations which can predict a specific clinical condition, which otherwise is difficult to observe, are generally called biomarkers (Aronson and Ferner, 2017), and are able to define a pathological or healthy condition. Biomarkers can be molecular, cellular, tissue or organ specific Within this context, biomarkers of periodontal disease are expected to predict disease progression (Buzalaf *et al.*, 2020). Ideally, the characteristics of periodontal biomarkers should (i) have the ability to diagnose the disease, (2) inform on its severity, (iii) change with periodontal treatment and (iv) be able to reflect its prognosis. In the present study, the biomarkers used are in the molecular level, and more specifically proteins and exosomal micro-RNA (miRNA).

MiRNA have been extensively studied exhibiting remarkable results and are expected to link the specific periodontal treatment modalities with clinical results. Exosomes and their content, recently have an emerging role as promising diagnostic tools and their role in periodontitis will be entertained in this study. In **Table1**, a small fraction of exosome biomarkers for periodontitis are summarized.

	Salivary biomarkers	Type of biomarker
Periodontitis	CD9, CD81	Membrane proteins
	Histone H2A type 1	Histone (related to genome in eukaryotic cells)
	Ig kappa chain V-I region AU	Protein (antibody)
	hsa-miR-140-5p, hsa-miR-146a-5p, hsa-miR-628-5p	Micro RNAs

Table 1 Saliva Exosomal Biomarkers in Periodontitis. Some Exosomal biomarkers for periodontitis (Xing, Han and Li, 2020) are displayed. These can be miRNAs, membrane proteins, histones and antibody proteins.

Exosome-based diagnosis causes little discomfort and is widely available in a variety of physiological fluids. Exosomal cargo diversity, which gives several diagnostic indicators, may improve diagnostic sensitivity and specificity (Han, Bartold and Ivanovski, 2022).

Exosomes

Chargaff and West in 1946 were the first to describe exosomes, being part of the sediment following centrifugation of blood plasma, as 'corpuscles' (Chargaff and West, 1946). Later, Wolf in his study, referred to them as "platelet dust", reducing their importance to platelet debris (Wolf, 1967). In contrast to their initial portrayal as lesser-important particles, the latest research made them emerge as an important class of cell-to-cell communicators, shed by all cell types. Exosomes are part of a wider family of vesicles secreted by cells, called Extracellular Vesicles (EVs). There are two more types of EVs, distinguished as per their size and synthesis route: microvesicles and apoptotic bodies. Of these, exosomes present the particularity of being created by a process aiming at a cargo for a specific purpose, in contrast to the rest of EVs which are directly released by the plasma (Xing, Han and Li, 2020). Their specifically designed cargo is distinguishing them as intercellular communicators with a specific aim, able to alter the function of the targeted cells.

A more extensive portrayal of exosomes was made in the early 1980s in the field of biology by Harding (Harding and Stahl, 1983) and Johnstone (Johnstone, Adam and Pan, 1984) helped the understanding of their function. These cell-secreted vesicles, can be distinguished and qualify as 'exosomes', when filling a range of criteria in structure and morphology: they need to be surrounded by a phospholipid bilayer membrane, have a small diameter (between 50 to 100nm), present a cup shape (in electron microscopy) and their density to be between 1.13 and 1.19 g/mL, depending on the cell of origin (Raposo *et al.*, 1996). Exosomes have a hydrophilic content comprising mainly of mRNA, miRNA, DNA, lipids and proteins (van Niel *et al.*, 2006; Théry *et al.*, 2018; Akhtar *et al.*, 2016). Exosomes have the ability to cross epithelial barriers via transcytosis and transfer RNAs of various systemic conditions, such as neurodegenerative disorders, into saliva (Schneider and Simons, 2013). Depiction of their synthesis pathway and content are described in **Figure 1**.



Figure 1 Illustration of Exosome Biogenesis (A) and content (B). Exosomes are part of a wider family of extracellular vesicles which further includes the group of (i) the shedding microvesicles and (ii) the relatively larger apoptotic bodies. The biogenesis of exosomes (Boriachek *et al.*, 2018; Yu, Odenthal and Fries, 2016) starts inside endosomes, which are membrane-bound compartments inside eukaryotic cells and comprise of three distinct stages as they evolve: early endosomes, late endosomes, and recycling endosomes (**A**). Each one of these reflect their maturation level. At first, an inward budding of the endosomal membrane will give rise to intraluminal vesicles (ILV). The late endosomes (mature stage) can either fuse with lysosomes and become degraded via hydrolysis, or fuse with the plasma membrane and release their ILVs into the extracellular space. These ILVs, are considered exosomes. Cargo sorting of exosome is cell type specific and influenced by cellular conditions. The biogenesis mechanism provides them with a particular biochemical composition, as already mentioned. **(B)** Illustration of an exosome depicting its main characteristics. A bilipid membrane of endocytic origin enclosing the cargo designated by the cell of origin. The cargo consists of DNA, miRNA, lipids, and proteins, specifically chosen for the alterations of the targeted cell.

Exosomes are part of a wider family of extracellular vesicles which further includes the group of (i) the shedding microvesicles and (ii) the relatively larger apoptotic bodies. Their particularity lies on their specifically designed cargo sorting, which is cell type specific and influenced by cellular conditions. The biogenesis mechanism provides them with a particular biochemical composition, and their function and content are influenced by molecular signals received by the cell of origin from the surrounding tissues (Villarroya-Beltri *et al.*, 2014). The trans-Golgi network is closely related to their biogenesis, and Rab family proteins (membrane proteins involved in the regulation of exosome secretion), are key regulators of the process (Villarroya-Beltri *et al.*, 2014; Boriachek *et al.*, 2018). Exosomes are enriched in cholesterol, sphingomyelin, saturated phosphatidylcholine, and phosphatidylethanolamine as compared to the plasma membrane of their original cell (Villarroya-Beltri *et al.*, 2014).

Exosomes play a major role in extracellular communication, and through their content, they affect and regulate biological functions. Exosomes have been reported playing their regulatory and intracellular communication role in physiological processes such as the immune response, tissue repair, stem cell maintenance and metabolism, as well as in pathological processes such as inflammatory, cardiovascular and neurodegeneration diseases, systemic diseases and cancer (Perocheau *et al.*, 2021). They target neighbouring cells and tissues, as well as those of areas distant to their cell of origin (Boriachek *et al.*, 2018; Yu, Odenthal and Fries, 2016). The plethora of information obtained led to the creation of databases that provide catalogues of the extracellular vesicle content in different cell types: interesting information can be found in *Vesiclepedia, EVpedia* and *ExoCarta* where a multitude of studies on a variety of species can be found.

Research of exosomes is a rising trend in periodontology. It is orientated in investigation of the exosomal presence in oral fluids and periodontal tissue to better understand their local function and role. Immune response, periodontal inflammatory response, periodontal tissue destruction, periodontal treatment response, tissue healing, periodontal regeneration and dental implants are some of the areas of interest so far investigated (Xu *et al.*, 2020; Wu *et al.*, 2019; Doyle and Wang, 2019; Huynh *et al.*, 2016; Nakao *et al.*, 2021; Zhang *et al.*, 2021). The knowledge platform has given the grounds to clinical implementations in the periodontal treatment, such as periodontal regeneration (Elashiry *et al.*, 2020; Gegout *et al.*, 2021), by using them with specifically designed or altered cargo. Taking in consideration the early stages of implementing these as part of periodontal treatment, there is some promising options in the future of exosomes in periodontal clinical applications. Studies have shown that use of exosomes isolated form mesenchymal stem cells originating from the periodontal ligament, have shown that periodontal regeneration was noticeable in treatment of intrabony defects (Chew *et al.*, 2019), and have the potential to inhibit alveolar bone loss (Nakao *et al.*, 2021).

Due to their small size, the plethora and multiple functions these present in terms of gene silencing, the research continuously allows their better understanding, increasing the possibility for future applications in the clinical field and academic research.

MicroRNA

miRNAs are small non-coding RNA molecules of about 22 nucleotides which can affect gene expression at the post-transcriptional level by directing the RNA-induced silencing complex to their target messenger RNAs. They were discovered in the early 1990s by Lee (Lee, Feinbaum and Ambros, 1993) and are part of the exosome's content. miRNAs have a major role in regulation of gene expression and can also activate translation or regulate transcription of them. Furthermore, they have been recognised as messengers mediating cell-cell communication (O'Brien *et al.*, 2018). Their main way of control gene expression ls via targeting messenger RNAs (mRNAs) on which they can bind and either cause decay, or cleavage (O'Brien *et al.*, 2018), ultimately leading to the incapacity of the mRNA to further transcript. There is also the speculation of miRNAs having the ability to act as a gene regulators in the cell nucleus as well (Nishi *et al.*, 2013).

Their biogenesis takes place in the nucleus and the cytoplasm. Animal miRNAs are first processed in the nucleus. miRNAs responsible genes are located in intergenic regions, whereas a few were annotated in intronic regions (Wahid *et al.*, 2010). RNA polymerase II (Pol II) is mainly responsible for the transcription of miRNA genes, and some are transcribed by RNA polymerase III (Pol III). This will create after a few steps and the help of RNA polymerase III (PoL III), the first premature sequence, in the form of a hairpin loop, the pre-miRNA. At this stage, miRNA can be as long as 150 nucleotides. This will be transferred to the cytoplasm with the help of Exportin-5 (a protein of the family of karyopherins, responsible for transferring molecules in and out of the nucleus) (Murchison and Hannon, 2004). In the cytoplasm, with the help of RNase III enzyme Dicer, it will be processed and take its final shape as a miRNA. Its length now is close to 22 nucleotides. At this stage, it can circulate in the cytoplasm or outside of it as circular miRNA or extracellular miRNA (Sohel, 2016). Turnover and decay of mature miRNA takes place with the help of Argonaute (AGO) proteins. Antagomirs which

target and mark miRNAs, Uridilation, to finally be degraded by ribonucleases (Zhang *et al.*, 2012). The biogenesis and final degradation can be seen in **Figure 2**.



Figure 2 Biogenesis and degradation of miRNA. The illustration depicts the main stages of biogenesis and degradation of miRNA. First, in the nucleus, a specific region in the DNA sequence (intergenic or introgenic) will be transcribed by Polymerase II or III to the very first form of premature miRNA. It will have the shape of a hairpin and its size will be no longer than 150 nucleotides. The next step will be for this premature miRNA to be transferred to the cytoplasm of the cell, with the help of a karyopherin, the Exportin-5, through the nucleus's membrane. In the cytoplasm, after a number of complex changes and cleavage with the help of RNase III enzyme Dicer, the miRNA finalises in shape and form. The degradation and decay of miRNA will be completed with the help of Antagomirs, specialised in breaking down the sequel of nucleotides of miRNA, and ribonucleases will finally complete the procedure.

The human genome may encode over 2300 miRNAs (Alles *et al.*, 2019). These findings have shed further light in fields that are of upmost importance in every clinical discipline. It seems that they are strongly associated with the features and mechanisms of the immune system, innate as well as adaptive. Both are thoroughly investigated to further understand their function as well as possible therapeutic applications. The research around them is relatively new and in early stages. However, quite promising for future clinical application in diseases that either are fatal or chronic with serious implications (Chaput and Théry, 2011; Rupaimoole and Slack, 2017), and provide major advances in their therapy.

miRNAs can reflect in a specific time, the condition of tissues they originate in terms of physiology and pathology, and this is applicable in the field of periodontology (Hadavand and Hasni, 2019). In the periodontal field, intensive research has shed light on the pathways miRNAs are involved in various biological functions. In a recent review, Santonocito (Santonocito *et al.*, 2021) highlights the way miRNAs are involved in various cellular

processes. miRNA-584 is induced by *Porphyromonas gingivalis (P.g.)*, one of the most known periodontopathic bacteria, through the effect of the bacterium's lipopolysaccharides, causing upregulation of the interleukin IL-8 to finally induce an antimicrobial effect from the host. Leukocyte migration from the blood vessels, is indirectly controlled by the miRNA-31 and miRNA-17-3p. An example of miRNA getting involved in periodontal immune response is miRNA146, which seem to have multiple effects. On one hand, by blocking the signalling process, it favours the bacteria's actions against their host; and on the other, is being associated with reduced numbers of cytokines like TNF- α , IL-1 β , hence related to prevention of periodontal tissue degradation. Schmalz (Schmalz *et al.*, 2016), presented some of the most studied miRNAs. miR-146a and miR-155 are the most noticeable ones, which seem to be targeted by multiple studies, due to their abundance in periodontal inflamed tissues, and their likely link to the presence of bacterial lipopolysaccharides.

miRNA research revealed expression in several types of cells and tissues, undertaking a variety of roles. Any abnormality in their expression is implicated in disease states. miRNA is a non-coding RNA that have as function RNA silencing and hence, the regulation and control of gene expression via a post-transcriptional way (post-transcriptional inhibition of gene expression).

Depending on the manner the targeted genes are silenced, the endpoints can be upregulation or downregulation of the genes and the biological functions related to them. Furthermore, the same miRNA can up- or downregulate the expression of genes and not be restricted in only one way of regulation, and also target multiple genes simultaneously (Irwandi and Vacharaksa, 2016; Santonocito *et al.*, 2021). miRNAs can be upper or downregulated by the presence of pathogens such *P. G.*, putting in action the host's immune pathways (Olsen, Singhrao and Osmundsen, 2017). It is thought that they can be used as predictive tools for periodontal disease and healing process of periodontal therapies (Luan *et al.*, 2018). In this study, miRNAs area considered good candidates for diagnostic purposes, as a reasonable option, due to their constant presence in oral fluids, and by comparison to studies made in the field of cancer where they are studied for the same purpose. He also sees two major advantages miRNA present: being the local produce of periodontal tissues and their easy sampling and collection, from GCF and saliva. From the two oral fluids, Luan et al., favours GCF, as being anatomically closer to the periodontal tissues.

Due to their ability to be in detectable levels in bodily fluids (Denzer *et al.*, 2000), they are harvested and studied for the above-mentioned purposes from patient's saliva and gingival crevicular fluid-GCF (Han *et al.*, 2018; Michael *et al.*, 2010). This is making miRNAs very valuable for the diagnosis of systemic diseases, including oral conditions, suggesting a role

as biomarkers and their potential for future use in routine diagnosis. Studies have brought to light and identified a large number of miRNA and their involvement in a multitude of biological functions relating to the periodontal tissues, as aforementioned. These are related to immunity, metabolism, homeostasis, oxidative stress, wound healing, tissue regeneration and all biological functions known in healthy and pathological periodontal conditions (Olsen, Singhrao and Osmundsen, 2017; Santonocito *et al.*, 2021; Amaral *et al.*, 2019; Motedayyen *et al.*, 2015; Fujimori *et al.*, 2019; Guo *et al.*, 2019; Al-Rawi *et al.*, 2020; Simões *et al.*, 2019). So far, research have come finally to propose periodontal diagnosis related to miRNAs, direct from gingival tissue (Jin *et al.*, 2020), or salivary miRNAs (Al-Rawi *et al.*, 2020), quite promising for the future. **Table 2**. presents well-characterised miRNAs related to periodontitis, and their target gene functions.

miRNAs	Up/ down regulation	Targeted gene function
hsa-miR-1274b, hsa-let-7b-5p, hsa-miR-24-3p, hsa-miR-19b-3p, hsa-miR-720, hsa-miR-126-3p, hsa-miR-17-3p and hsa-miR-21-3p	Upregulation	Cell differentiation and osteogenic differentiation capacity of stem cells
miRNA-146a	Downregulation	Downregulation of interleukin-1 receptor– associated kinase 1 and TNF receptor– associated factor 6
miRNA146a – miRNA155	Upregulation	Oxidative stress by targeting superoxide dismutase (SOD)
hsa-miR-381-3p, miR-181b, miR-19b, miR-23a, miR- 30a, miR-let7a and miR-301a	Upregulation	Increased immune response
miRNA-218	Upregulation	Regulation of matrix metalloproteinase-9 (Mmp9) suppress the degradation of Collagen types I and IV and dentin sialoprotein (DSP), attenuate osteoclast formation, and inhibit the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines.
miRNA 155, 146a/b and 203	Upregulation	CD56+ NK cells, whole blood, CD4+ T cells, CD8+ T cells, interleukin1 and 8 regulation (chemotaxis, proliferation, production) with simultaneous positive and negative regulation.
miR-103 1/2, miR-107, miR-646, miR-503, miR-126, miR-424, miR-15b, miR-497, miR-15a, miR-195, miR-16-1/2, miR-126, miR- 221/222, miR-17-92, miR-92a, miR-20a, miR17-5p, miR-23-27, Hsa-miR-223-3p	Upregulation	Extensive role in angiogenesis
Hsa-miR-124-3p	Downregulation	
miRNAs	Up/ down regulation	Targeted gene function

Table 2 miRNAs and regulation of targeted genes and effect on cellular function.

(Olsen, Singhrao and Osmundsen, 2017; Santonocito *et al.*, 2021; Amaral *et al.*, 2019; Motedayyen *et al.*, 2015; Fujimori *et al.*, 2019; Guo *et al.*, 2019; Al-Rawi *et al.*, 2020; Simões *et al.*, 2019).

Saliva

Saliva is the fluid secreted by three paired major salivary glands (the parotid, submandibular and sublingual) and the minor salivary glands spread in the oral mucosa. When referring to saliva, it is implied that the above secretions are mixed with the gingival crevicular fluid (GCF), known under the term of whole saliva, which coats the hard and soft tissues of the oral cavity (Dawes, 2012). Saliva is a body fluid with many and important functions which mainly comprise of lubrication, ion reservoir, buffering by balancing the oral cavity's pH, assists in speech, swallowing and air flow, cleansing food and microorganisms, have antimicrobial functions, agglutination, pellicle formation on teeth's surface, participates in digestion, taste, excretion of substances and body water balance (Dawes, 2012). It is composed mainly of water (at least 99.5%), inorganic and organic constituents and its composition depends on various factors which have major (degree of hydration, body position, exposure to light, previous stimulation, biological rhythms such as circadian and circannual rhythms) or minor (gender, age, body weight, gland size, psychic effects such as thoughts or sight of food, and functional stimulation) influence on it. It also contains desquamated epithelial cells, bacteria, leucocytes (mainly from the gingival crevice), and possibly food residues, blood, and viruses. It is flowing from the salivary ducts of the salivary glands and gingival sulcus into the oral cavity, as forementioned, with a mean flow rate of 0.3-7ml/min, as unstimulated or stimulated whole saliva respectively. Apart from being the main source of glycoproteins for the oral microbiota to attach to the oral cavity's tissues (mainly teeth) and main medium of nutrients, it also has a determining effect on its composition and survival through complex mechanisms (Dawes, 2012; Marsh et al., 2016).

Also, salivary secretions being the main sources of calcium and phosphate in the oral cavity, are the reason calculus is formed on teeth and hard surfaces, which can be supra or subgingival, and both are the result of mineralisation of the local dental plaque.

The organic components of saliva comprise of proteins, peptidases, enzymes, immunoglobulins, amino acids and lipids. Proteins play a considerable role in the oral cavity primarily. Their functions include antimicrobial systems, lubrication, water retention, controlling of endogenous and exogenous micro-organisms, protection of soft and hard tissues, and plaque acid production. Some of the most important antimicrobial proteins are lysozyme, lactoferrin, peroxidases, agglutinins, amylase, histidines and cystatins. Immunoglobulins are also found in saliva as part of the immune response, and are IgA, IgG and IgM, which are

secreted by the large salivary glands, and also by the oral epithelium, mainly from plasma cells (Carpenter, 2013; Dawes, 2012).

One of the major roles of saliva in the oral cavity, is the active participation in wound healing. The wound healing process is very similar to cutaneous and oral wounds; however, it is much more accelerated, and leaves further less scars in the oral cavity. The difference between the two tissues, is the presence of saliva, which provides in one hand a highly humid environment, and on the other be the median carrier of a multitude of components, which actively participate in the process of healing. Brandt (Brand, Ligtenberg and Veerman, 2014), presented some of the components of saliva, such as the tissue factor, epidermal growth factor and protease inhibitor, which step in the procedures of blood clotting, epithelial cells proliferation and inhibition of tissue degrading enzymes (like elastase and trypsin) respectively, in such a way that accelerates the healing process. More salivary components are contributing to this direction, along with the specific characteristics of the oral environment (as the humidity, temperature, rich in nutrients saliva) and with their synergistic action, make the oral environment extremely effective in wound healing, when compared to the cutaneous one.

In research, saliva can be collected either as a whole, or directly from the individual's major salivary glands, depending on the purpose of its analysis, and can be stimulated or nonstimulated. Whole saliva is superior and clinically more meaningful when assessing overall salivary gland function. For this purpose, the existing methods proposed are the: 1. Draining method, where saliva drips off from the lower lip in a collection vessel, 2. Spitting method, where saliva is spitted every 60 sec in a collection vessel after accumulating in the floor of the mouth 3. Suction method, where saliva is aspirated by a saliva aspirator and the 4. Swab method, where a pre-weighed swab, cotton roll, or gauze is used to collect (absorb) saliva (Navazesh, 1993). Immediate freezing following collection of the samples in low temperatures (-80°C) is necessary to ensure their long-term protection and conservation, especially in longitudinal studies. Due to multiple factors affecting the qualitative and quantitative properties of it, it is necessary to standardise the method of collection throughout the study. Saliva has the advantage of easy and painless collection, which both patients and clinicians prefer.

Salivary proteins

The total composition of proteins in stimulated and unstimulated hole saliva ranges between 1910 and 1640 (mg/ L). The main body of protein secretion derives from the 3 major salivary glands: the parotid, sublingual and submandibular glands (Dawes, 2012). These proteins aim at supporting the main functions of saliva and are considered intrinsic proteins. Saliva can also carry proteins produced in organs distant and/ or differentiated from the oral cavity, called

extrinsic proteins (Saitou *et al.*, 2020), making saliva a very diverse bodily fluid. However, Saitou concluded that the exact organ of origin of these proteins is still unclear, and further investigation is necessary on the homeostasis of salivary glands, as well as on how the salivary proteins are impacted and their final composition in saliva is obtained.

In pathological oral conditions (systematic or dental), saliva is expected to be the carrier of molecular cues, exhibited by the pathological sites, in particular proteins, which are considered as elements of biomarker signature analysis (Jaedicke, Preshaw and Taylor, 2016; Zhang, Xiao and Wong, 2009). Some of the most studied proteins are the ones involved in the immune response such as interleukins, which are among the first signal molecules to participate in the regulation of immune responses and inflammatory reactions. Interleukins are a group of cytokines, by which the acquired and adaptive immune responses largely are orchestrated. In periodontitis, some of the most studied inflammation inducing interleukins (IL) are the IL-1 β and IL-6.

IL-1β, is a proinflammatory cytokine, produced by a plethora of cells, but mainly by monocytes, macrophages, B-cells, dendritic cells, epithelial and endothelial cells. In higher levels than the normal ones, it is mediating the inflammatory response, work as a leukocytic endogenous mediator (attracts leukocytes), causes raise of temperature (pyrogenic properties), and in prolonged inflammatory periods exacerbates damage and acute tissue injury (Ren and Torres, 2009; Lopez-Castejon and Brough, 2011). In more details, in untreated periodontitis, IL-1β is also produced by osteoblasts and mediates stimulation of adhesion molecule and chemokine expression, stimulates PGE₂ production, enhances osteoclast formation, induces matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) expression and stimulates apoptosis of matrix producing cells, such as fibroblasts (Graves and Cochran, 2003). Through these mechanisms, the periodontal inflammation becomes a chronic condition, the alveolar bone and connective tissue experience extensive loss and breakdown, and the periodontium presents a limited repair ability.

IL-1 β is a subtype of IL-1, and directly involved in the extracellular matrix degradation and alveolar bone resorption in periodontitis. Kornman in his study (Kornman *et al.*, 1997) reported that this subtype, is causing increase levels of IL-1, and as a result, periodontal tissue degradation. The impact of IL-1 β , well studied for its impact in periodontitis patients exhibiting active disease, seem to also have impact in the therapy. The study of de Sanctis and Zucchelli (De Sanctis and Zucchelli, 2000), evaluated the impact of IL-1 in periodontally treated patients with regeneration therapy for interproximal angular bony defects, concluding there is a 10 times higher fold for CAL loss \geq 2mm following 1 year of regenerative surgery. The impact of IL-1 β on the periodontal tissues is well studied, and its presence in periodontal patients have

24

a central role in the progression of the disease, being a hallmark of great importance and its early detection, seem to be crucial for the prevention and management of periodontitis patient.

IL-6 is also one of the first cytokines responding to trauma and infection, produced by cells such as macrophages, neutrophils, keratinocytes, fibroblasts, and endothelial cells. Its synthesis follows a stimulus from infection or trauma. The biologic properties of IL-6 are not only limited into inducing an inflammatory response (pro-inflammatory activity), but also periodontal tissue destruction, anti-inflammatory activity and grown-factor properties (Nibali *et al.*, 2012). Furthermore, IL-6, except of being so diverse in terms of biologic activity and implications in the periodontal inflammatory pathway, it is expressed mainly in relation to the acute phase of periodontitis and is found to be of decreased levels in patients with chronic periodontitis, comparable to the levels of healthy subjects. It is also important to point out, that IL-6 is found in saliva mainly through GCF, and not from the salivary glands (Nibali *et al.*, 2012).

The existing literature has pointed out their importance and critical action in periodontitis (Graves, 2008; Cekici *et al.*, 2014; Nibali *et al.*, 2012). As salivary biomarkers for the early detection and management of periodontitis, they have been already extensively studied, with the hope that the disease would be caught before the tissue destruction starts and CAL is clinically detectable (Jaedicke, Preshaw and Taylor, 2016). The research made in the field, have provided significant advances in our understanding on how realistic the routine use of salivary biomarkers is, the validity of saliva as a source of biomarkers, the precision of the methods to use for their detection, and to what direction the research needs to be conducted and further shed light in the clinical use of biomarkers.

IL-6 is a cytokine which is detected in increased levels in gingivitis and periodontitis. In inflammation it has both anti-inflammatory (through downregulation of neutrophil recruitment and proinflammatory cytokine expression) and pro-inflammatory (ex: induction of acute-phase reactants by the liver) actions. It can be detected in GCF as well as saliva, with GCF being its main source as it is the oral fluid in which it is found in higher concentrations (Nibali *et al.*, 2012). In periodontitis, the levels of IL-6 are affected by periodontal treatment, where there is an association between the short-term inflammatory response to therapy (increase of IL-6 levels) and long-term reduction of its levels relating to clinical improvement in periodontal patients (D'Aiuto *et al.*, 2004; D'Aiuto *et al.*, 2005; Nibali *et al.*, 2012). Both these cytokines are considered in the literature as biomarkers exhibiting good sensitivity and specificity values, in the detection of periodontitis (Arias-Bujanda *et al.*, 2020).

GCF

Gingival Crevicular Fluid (GCF) is secreted from the gingival sulcus of teeth representing a small fragment in the whole saliva's volume, and its volume is measured in µI (Griffiths et al., 1992). The proteins, exosomes and miRNAs exhibited in the GCF, and their altered profile might be indicative of periodontitis (Saito et al., 2017). In inflammatory conditions, GCF is an exudate originating from the gingival blood capillaries and secreted in the dental sulcus (Barros et al., 2016; Griffiths, 2003). Its composition is mainly blood electrolytes and organic molecules, i.e. albumins, globulins, lipoproteins, peptides, enzymes, fibrinogen and cellular components as well as bacteria. These can vary depending on the state of the gingivae. As the condition of the gingival tissues changes from health to disease, it is reflected in GCF's composition. Being the local product of gingiva, however small in volume, GCF contributes to the whole saliva' proteinic load, exosome and miRNA's amounts. The presence of exosomes and miRNAs in GCF, have attracted interest in the field of periodontology. The research has investigated the relation between exosomes and miRNA in the various aspects of the periodontal disease and how these are expressed (Luan et al., 2018). The main target of research is evidence suggesting the involvement of miRNAs in periodontal tissue homeostasis and pathology (Kebschull and Papapanou, 2015; Olsen, Singhrao and Osmundsen, 2017) around teeth and implants (Asa'ad et al., 2020). The results of studies revealed the important role of miRNAs in the pathogenesis of periodontitis, however, the knowledge obtained so far is limited (Irwandi and Vacharaksa, 2016) and further investigation is still required to determine in a more precise way the function of miRNAs in the complex processes of periodontal tissue homeostasis, pathogenesis and healing. In the literature, the main efforts to date, are concentrated in the establishment of miRNAs involved in the above-mentioned aspects of the periodontal and peri-implant tissues.

This extensive research started to give the grounds for clinical applications. Exosomes have already been used in treatment. A recent review studied the *in vivo* use of exosomes in regenerative periodontal treatment (Gegout *et al.*, 2021) with positive results. However, the methods still need to be optimised and standardised, as these are in their early stages of implementation.

To our knowledge, studies entertaining the miRNA profile of specific periodontal treatment modalities and their healing pathway, have not yet emerged in the literature. The main weight of the present research will be within this context, following the expression of miRNAs after treatment of patients with the aforementioned treatment non-surgical and surgical modalities.

Hypothesis, Aims and Objectives

The hypothesis of the pilot study is to evaluate whether signature(s) of exosomal miRNAs, IL- 1β and IL-6, isolated from GCF and saliva of periodontitis patients prior to any treatment exist and can be used as feasible biomarkers of periodontal treatment.

The objective of the present study is to describe the miRNA (in GCF and saliva), and IL-1 β and IL-6 (in saliva) profile expression, and define specific signatures and their association with the clinical parameters informing the periodontal status of patients.

Materials and Methods

This pilot study is part of an on-going randomised, single-blind, parallel-surgical modalities groups (3 groups of which SD is the control non-surgical group, and SPPF and RPFO are the surgical test groups, conservative and resective flap respectively). The clinical trial includes a total of 87 patient with periodontitis.

This pilot study is based on the analysis of saliva and GCF samples from 12 patients, collected at their baseline appointment following completion of step 1 and step 2 periodontal treatment, prior to any further treatment within the clinical trial mentioned above. From each patient there was a 2ml sample of saliva and 4 GCF samples obtained from the 4 deepest PPD sites per patient, as seen in **Table 3**. The samples used, were from samples collected prior to the commencement of the 2019 pandemic, to avoid contamination from the COVID-19 virus and further isolation precautions while processing them. From the GCF samples, exosomes were isolated, and their RNA was extracted for further analysis comprising of a precipitation protocol, use of the ExoQuick precipitation solution, purification and finally Nanosight analysis. Saliva samples will be processed for investigation of their IL-1 β and IL-6 cytokines with the ELISA method.

	Treatment time point	Sites of treatment/ collection samples	Treatment modality to follow and patient code
GCF	Baseline	Samples from 4 deepest PPD, ideally 1 per quadrant with methylcellulose strips	GROUP A: 51, 54, 59, 60 GROUP B: 50, 53, 64, 65
			GROUP C: 56, 58, 61, 66
Saliva	Baseline	Whole saliva (2ml)	GROUP A: 51, 54, 59, 60
			GROUP B: 50, 53, 64, 65
			GROUP C: 56, 58, 61, 66

Table 3. GCF and Saliva collection samples, timeline of collection and treatment modality

The participants had to fulfil the following criteria to be accepted in the study:

1. Males and females over or 30 years of age who are systemically healthy

2. After reading the "Patient Information Leaflet" and being fully informed about the study, volunteers must agree to read and sign a copy of the "Informed Consent" form.

3. Present with periodontitis and one interdental site with PPD 6mm, BOP, and attachment loss 6mm in any posterior sextant of their mouth (excluding third molars and distal of second molars), or several sites (\geq 9) with PPD 5mm, BOP, and attachment loss 5mm.

4. Have received maintenance subgingival debridement within 6 months of being assessed for eligibility and have finished a course of non-surgical periodontal therapy within 2 years of starting the trial.

Exclusion criteria were the following:

1. Diabetes, hepatic or renal illness, or other major medical disorders or infectious diseases, such as cardiovascular disease or AIDS, should be mentioned in the medical history.

2. History of rheumatic fever, heart murmur, mitral valve prolapse, artificial heart valve or other conditions requiring prophylactic antibiotic coverage prior to invasive dental procedures.

3. During the month prior to the baseline assessment, prescription of antibiotics, antiinflammatory, or anticoagulant therapy.

4. History of alcohol or drug abuse.

5. Pregnancy or lactation that was self-reported (due to oral tissue changes related to pregnancy and nursing which can affect interpretation of study results).

6. Other severe acute or chronic medical or psychiatric condition or laboratory abnormality that may increase the risk of trial participation or investigational product administration, or that may interfere with the interpretation of trial results, and that, in the investigator's opinion, would make the subject ineligible for participation in this trial.

Pre-Study Procedures were preliminary to the acceptance of the participants and review of their medical history was also carried out. Clinical and radiographic assessment of periodontal status for diagnostic purposes and to determine eligibility for the study. After an initial discussion with the patients took place to explain the study details, provision of an information sheet was necessary for their consideration.

Following recruitment, all participants were to undergo one session of supra-gingival scaling to promote optimal gingival health and the lowest plaque levels possible of the mouth in preparation for the study treatment, which was followed after the randomization for all posterior sextants. This treatment included:

- Oral hygiene instructions were given to all patients with the goal to reach satisfactory selfcontrol plaque of<25%, prior to treatment visit.
- This treatment was performed by the study dental hygienist or clinician.

Standard Operating Procedure of Sample Collection, Storage & Analysis.

1. Saliva collection

Following the baseline visit, an enrolment and a preparation visit, patients were randomised to their assigned group and the pending treatment (SPPF, RPFO and SD). Non-stimulated saliva sample was collected at baseline, before any other treatment according to the treatment protocol took place or clinical sampling or measurement took place. The study participants were asked to refrain from eating, smoking, drinking, or performing oral hygiene for at least 60 minutes prior to saliva collection. For the baseline, 3, 6 and 12 months post treatment visits, participants were asked if they had eaten, smoked, drank, or performed oral hygiene. If not, they were asked to wait for 60 minutes in the waiting area. The patient will be seated with their head tilted forward in a calm space. Whole saliva samples were taken and pipetted into 2ml cryovials, labelled and immediately stored at -80°C for future analysis.

2. GCF collection

Samples of GCF were collected from the 4 deepest sites of individuals with PD (preference for one per quadrant) at baseline, 2 weeks and 3 months post treatment. GCF was collected at baseline, 2 weeks post-surgery and at 3 months post treatment. GCF was collected prior to

periodontal probing to avoid contamination by blood. The selected sites were isolated with cotton rolls and saliva was removed from the supra-gingival area using saliva ejector and cotton ball, avoiding touching the gingival margin. Plaque, if present, was removed from the supra-gingival with the use of a curette to prevent contamination. GCF was collected using methylcellulose strips (pro Flow, Inc., Amityville, NY) carefully and gently placed at the entrance of the sulcus until resistance is felt and left for 30sec. The samples were placed immediately into Eppendorf tubes (on ice), labelled and then placed in the laboratory freezer at -20° to -80°C for storage until time of analysis at a later date.



Figure 3 Collection of GCF with absorbing paper strips of standardised size. These can absorb volume of GCF ranging between 1.2-2µl. There are two methods of collection: i) Löe and Holm-Pederson technique, positioning of paper strip at gingival margin without penetrating in the gingival sulcus; with low risk of irritation; and ii) Brill's technique, positioning of paper strip into sulcus; this technique may cause irritation to the sulcus (Lagos *et al.*, 2011).

Exosome isolation method (Saliva and GCF)

The procedure of exosome isolation from the saliva and GCF samples followed in this study, is a precipitation protocol. The materials used for this pilot study were12 saliva samples (collected at the baseline examination appointment) and the ExoQuick-TC exosome precipitation solution. The completion of the procedure was as follows:

The frozen samples of GCF and saliva were allowed to thaw on ice for about 15min. GCF was eluted from paper strips by dilution in 100-200ul of proteases-inhibitors-containing PBS buffer. After resuspension for 10min, tubes were centrifuges at 1500rpm, and supernatant collected and transferred to a new tube. 1ml of saliva suspended, collected and placed in new Eppendorf tubes. Consecutive centrifugations of GCF and saliva samples at 3,000xg for 10min, 5,000xg for 20min and 12,000xg at 4°C were performed, with collection of the supernatant (SN) after each cycle in new Eppendorf tubes. The final SN volume of each sample was divided in 1 (GCF) or 2 (saliva) separate Eppendorf tubes. Final volume in each tube was adjusted to 400µL of SN. 200µL of ExoQuick was added to each tube to achieve a final ration of 2:1 (SN:ExoQuick). The tubes were inverted several times to achieve a good mixture. All samples were placed in a rack in an upright position and left to incubate overnight (about 16 hours) at 4°C. The next day, two successive centrifugations at 4°C took place at 2,000xg for 30 and 10min. The SN after both centrifugations were removed and stored at - 80°C (for future proteomic analysis with the ELISA method).

Nanosight analysis of extracellular vesicles took place at this point, (Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis - NTA) which is commonly used to determine EV concentration and diameter.

RNA extraction process

Following overnight incubation, the RNA extraction process from exosomes followed with the use of PureLink[®]RNA Mini Kit and followed its protocol. Additional PBS and 70% ethanol solution was necessary as materials.

To decontaminate RNases from surfaces and equipment used in this procedure, RNaseZap® Solution was used prior to all processes.

Pellets were resuspended in 100μ L and the samples that were separated at the exosome isolation method were merged at this point, in the same Eppendorf tube. The final volume of the tubes as this point is 100μ L. 400μ L of Lysis buffer was added in the tubes. Sonication with the use of an ultrasonic probe followed to homogenise the samples. 200μ L of Lysis buffer was

added to each tube and mixed in a spin mix for about 20sec. Each tube at this point had a final volume of 700μ L.

RNA Purification steps

The 700µL of each sample was transferred into spin cartridges and centrifuged at 12,000xg for 1 min at room temperature (RT). The flow through was discarded. 700µL of Wash Buffer I was added to the spin cartridge, centrifuged at 12,000xg for 1 min at RT and the flow through was discarded. The spin cartridge was placed into a new collection tube. 500μ L of Wash Buffer II and Ethanol were added to the spin cartridge and centrifuged at 12,000xg for 1 min at RT. The flow through was discarded. This step was repeated once more. Centrifuge at 12,000xg for 2min at RT to dry the membrane with the bound RNA, discard the collection tube and allow to incubate at RT for 1 min. Add 25µL of filtered water at the centre of the membrane with the bound RNA, incubate for 1 min at RT and centrifuge at 12,000g for 2min at RT to elute RNA from the membrane to the recovery tube.

Protein Analysis (Saliva)

The saliva supernatants were collected and stored at -80°C, until required for ELISA analysis. Human IL-1 β and IL-6 (R&D Systems DuoSet® ELISA Development Systems) were used, and protocol was conducted as per the following steps:

Plate Preparation

The Capture Antibody was diluted in PBS without carrier protein to the working concentration, and the coating of the 96-well microplate was completed with 100µL of the diluted Capture Antibody followed by overnight incubation at RT. The aspiration and wash of each well was completed with Wash Buffer twice, for a total of three washes. 400µL of Wash Buffer was used to fill each well. The remaining Wash Buffer was removed by aspirating or inverting the plate and blotting it against clean paper towels after the last wash. 300µL of Reagent Diluent was used to each well to form a block, followed by incubation at RT for at least 1 hour. The aspiration/ washing process was repeated.

Assay Procedure

100 μ L of sample/ standards in Reagent Diluent was added to each well, covered with adhesive strip, incubated for 2 hours at RT, followed by aspiration/ wash. 100 μ L of the

Detection Antibody were added to each well, covered with a new adhesive strip, incubated for 2 hours at RT, followed by aspiration/ wash. 100 μ L of the working dilution of Streptavidin-HRP were added to each well, covered with adhesive strip, incubated for 2 hours at RT (away from direct light), followed by aspiration/ wash. 100 μ L of Substrate Solution were added to each well and left to incubate at RT away from direct light for 20min. 50 μ L of Stop Solution to were added to each well followed immediately by determination of the optical density of each well immediately, using a microplate reader set to 450 nm.

Results

The	clinical	data	of	the	ра	atients	in	each	gro	oup	are	shown	in	Table	4.
		Clinical characteristics at baseline (mean values)													
			Pa co	Patient's code		Plaque (%)		BoP (%)		PPD (mm)		REC (m	REC (mm))
		Group A	51	L		8		54	9			7	7		
Patie	nts and ment		54	54		31		64 7			2		5		
modalities	alities		59)		19		55		9		5		4	
			60	60		14		29	ə 7		3		4		
		Group B	50)		19		69		9		4		4	
			53	3		25		63		6		4		2	
			64	Ļ		14		43		7		4		3	
			65	5		14		43		7		4		3	
		Group C	56	56		22		54		9		2	2		
			58	3		32		59		12		4		8	
			61	L		21		57		8		5		3	
			66	5		21		41		9		5		4	

Table 4. Table with patients' periodontal clinical data, as collected at their baseline examination. Values are the highest/ deepest per patient for PPD, REC and CAL.

Exosome analysis in GCF and Saliva samples.

One of the aims in this pilot study was to determine whether exosomes derived from GCF or saliva from patients with periodontitis, are a source of biomarkers that can inform on the disease status. Our initial approach was to isolate total exosomal RNA from GCF and analyse miRNA expression in order to understand mechanisms regulating gene expression in periodontitis, and whether profiles or signatures of miRNAs were associated with disease status. First, and following extraction of exosomes from GCF, samples were analysed by Nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA) to obtain information on the size and concentration of

vesicles. The techniques are suitable for size analysis of vesicles with external dimensions in the nano- and sub-micrometre scale range.

As depicted in **Figure 4**, for exosomes or extracellular vesicles derived from GCF, the size distribution analysis showed a non-homogenous size of extracellular vesicles (**Figure 4A**). A representative sample showed a histogram with 5 peaks at 75, 111, 145, 224 and 361nm, and a mode and mean size of particles of 69.99+/-19.30nm, and 143.9+/- 67.88nm, respectively (**Figure 4B and C**). In GCF samples the average concentration of exosomes was 2.41×10^9 +/- 0.91particles/ml (**Figure 4D**). A representative snapshot of GCF extracellular vesicles is shown in **Figure 4E**. Total RNA was extracted from purified GCF extracellular vesicles and the content in 5 preparations was estimated by Nanodrop. **Figure 4F** shows the estimated concentration of RNA (ng/µl) and the corresponding 260/280 ratio. From these, the RNA concentration obtained was low, and the 260/280 ratio which express the purity of RNA, had values <2, indicating possible contamination with DNA.



GCF analysis



A-C) size distribution and **D)** Concentration of exosomes in GCF. Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis (NTA) reveals five peaks in this distribution with the size of particles varying between 75 to 361nm. **E)** snapshot from a videoclip of vesicle particles in the sample. **F)** Nanodrop RNA concentrations. The values on top of each bar indicate 260/280 ratios of five different samples analysed.

A similar approach to analyse extracellular vesicles from saliva showed that the presence of bigger vesicles (**Figure 5A**) with sizes in the range of 84 to 307 nm and a mode and mean of 166nm +/- 75.5, and 200nm +/- 98, respectively (**Figure 5B and C**). Extracellular vesicles in saliva samples were present at a higher concentration, compared to GCF, with an average of 1.75×10^{10} +/- 1.76 particles/ml (**Figure 5D**). A representative snapshot of GCF extracellular vesicles and the evident higher concentration of particles compared to GCF samples is shown in **Figure 5E** (compare to **Figure 4E**). The reliability of the extracellular vesicles isolation protocol was tested with samples of human serum, which are known to contain a high concentration of particles. The results shown in **Figure 5F** show the homogeneous size of serum particles (mode 104.9 and mean 87.9 nm) and higher concentration compared to GCF and saliva samples (5.05×10^{10} particles/ml).

Saliva analysis



Figure 5. Nanoparticle tracking analysis of exosomes derived from saliva samples.

A-C) size distribution, and **D)** concentration of exosomes in saliva. Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis gives information on the size of particles varying between 151 and 219nm. **E)** Snapshot of saliva EVs with Nanosight analysis. **F)** Representative histogram for Nanosight analysis of human serum sample used as control for testing reliability of exosomes isolation protocol. The values indicate the mode, mean and concentration of particles in serum samples.

The difference in size of particles in GCF and saliva samples could be the result of higher precipitation of these spherical vesicles due to the higher dilution the samples had. Analysis of both saliva and GCF samples, showed that there were no apoptotic bodies present (large size EVs of ~1000µm in diameter).

Figure 6 describes the electrophoretic mobility pattern and histograms of three representative GCF samples. In this experiment, in addition to the internal Bioanalyzer Agilent control, a sample of RNA derived from PBMC's was used as control to check the RNA isolation procedure. As indicated by theRIN values of the saliva and GCF samples, these were suboptimal and close to 0 (RIN<2.5), with the Agilent control being at 7.9. The relative high value for PBMC's-derived RNA (9.0) indicates the optimal conditions of the RNA extraction technique (Figure 6A). 260/280 and 260/230 optical absorbance ratios were obtained with the use of a Nanodrop Spectrophotometer. The rationale is based on the Beer-Lambert law, which draws a direct correlation between absorbance and concentration of the nucleic acid sample/ aliquot under examination. While nucleic acids absorb at many wavelengths (measured in nm), they have a peak absorbance of UV light at 260nm. The A260/280 ratio is generally used to determine protein contamination of a nucleic acid sample since proteins have a strong UV absorbance at 280 nm. For pure RNA, A260/280 ratios should be close to 2.1. In terms of RNA concentration, the values obtained were low, and the 260/280 ratio that inform on potential DNA contamination and the presence of other contaminants was also low (Figure 6C).



Figure 6. Bioanalyzer quality control assessment of RNA isolated from GCF-derived exosomes. Total RNA extracted from GCF-derived exosomes was analysed by Bioanalyser technology to determine RIN values and concentration. In addition to instrument (Agilent) calibration control, GCF samples were compared to RNA isolated from PBMCs and a human serum sample. **A)** Electrophoresis blot showing representative bands and corresponding histograms (**B**) for total RNA in controls and GCF samples (GCF1-GCF3). The RIN value and concentration for each sample are indicated in the histograms. **C)** Ratio of absorbance and 260/280 and 260/ 230nm to assess purity of samples compared to PBMC control.

PBMCs

2.14

1.39

Electrophoresis by a Bionalayzer instrument is a method of assessment of the overall quality of an RNA preparation (Houde, 2015). RNA analysis is possible with a sample/ aliquot volume from 5ng of total RNA, which is completed and analysed with the help of a software and enables control of Agilent liquid (generated on the Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer System), providing simultaneously the RNA Integrity Number (RIN). RIN values reflect the quality score of the RNA of a sample (Schroeder *et al.*, 2006), and is able to provide reliable and reproducible characterisation of the total RNA from multiple sample types. An electropherogram is rated on a scale by RIN ranging from 1 to 10, with 10 being the least deteriorated.

The 260/230 ratio is considered as secondary measure of nucleic acid purity, and for pure RNA, these are expected to be within the range of 2.0-2.2 value. In cases where the ratio of a lower value, there is a possible presence of contaminants that absorb at 230nm. In all our

samples, salivary and from GCF, the values are very low (<1.15 for GCF samples and <0.44 for salivary samples), which suggest possible contamination with DNA, making them not suitable for further analysis.

Similar to GCF, Bioanalyzer results for saliva-derived RNA showed samples with low concentration, low RIN values (Figure 7A and B), and low 260/280 and 260/230 ratios (Figure 7C).



Figure 7. Bioanalyzer quality control assessment of RNA isolated from saliva-derived exosomes Total RNA extracted from saliva-derived exosomes was analysed by Bioanalyzer technology (Agilent) to determine RIN values and concentration. Samples were compared to instrument calibration control. **A)** Electrophoresis blot showing representative bands and corresponding histograms **(B)** for total RNA in control and a set of saliva samples (59-61, 64, 68, 69). The RIN value and concentration for each sample are indicated in the histograms. **C)** Ratio of absorbance at 260/280 and 260/230 nm to assess purity of RNA from saliva-derived exosomes.

Altogether, the Bioanalyzer quality control results for GCF and saliva indicate that the amount and quality of isolated RNA samples are not suitable for further downstream analysis of miRNA expression and profiling analysis.

Analysis of IL-1 β and IL-6 in saliva samples and correlation with clinical parameters defining periodontal disease.

This project was based on the analysis of baseline samples derived from patients in three different treatment modalities for periodontal disease. As further analyses will involve evaluation of molecular markers at later stages after treatment onset, we needed to evaluate whether our samples were homogenous in terms of the expression of molecular markers associated with inflammation and clinical parameters and measurements to define periodontitis stage and severity.

Initially, we evaluated by ELISA the levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and IL-6 (**Figure 8.**) where levels have been shown to vary according to periodontitis stage and severity. IL-1 β was detected in all three different sets of samples. (**Figure 8A**). From the optical density readings, a standard curve was constructed and the concentration of IL-1 β in each sample was determined (**Figure 8B**). The results showed no significant differences in IL-1 β in the three different treatment groups (**Figure 8C**). On the other hand, IL-6 was not detected in the saliva samples derived from patients in the three different treatment groups. IL-6 with the ELISA system was detected below the lower limit of 15pg/ml as indicated by the standard curve.



Figure 8. Levels of IL-1b and IL-6 in saliva samples from patients undergoing three different procedures for periodontitis. A) and D) microplates following completion of ELISA protocol for human IL-1 β and IL-6, respectively, and their concentrations (pg/ml) as per the optical density reading through spectrophotometry at 450nm. The labels in each well indicates the identity of the sample. The first 2 columns represent serial dilution samples for IL-1b and IL-6 standard curves standards of each interleukin, and the three Rows A, B and C, include the samples of the 3 patients' groups. Both standards and samples were assayed in duplicated.

B) and E) represent the standard curves for the IL-1 β and IL-6, respectively

C) bar representation of the results of the three groups of treatment for human IL-1 β concentration in baseline saliva samples from patients that will undergo

(Group A: Resective periodontal flap surgery with osseous recontouring (RPFO), Group B: Simplified Papilla preservation flap technique – (SPPF) or Subgingival debridement – (SD). Data is shown as one-way ANOVA with means and standard error of the mean (SEM).

The low concentration of IL-6 is an expected result for the baseline samples in this study (undetectable levels). IL-6 is a proinflammatory cytokine which is detected in higher levels when periodontitis patients have not received treatment and the inflammation is in a chronic phase. IL-6 levels are increased in saliva and GCF samples of chronic periodontitis patients (Nibali *et al.*, 2012). Studies have shown the decrease in its quantity levels found in saliva, before and after non-surgical treatment for chronic periodontitis (AI-Hamoudi *et al.*, 2018). The salivary IL-6 levels detected in this study (from patients diagnosed with chronic periodontitis and non-obese), were at their baseline examination at 15.1±0.6pg/mL, and 6 months following completion of non-surgical periodontal treatment at 5.8±2.3pg/mL, which is a statistically

significant change. Al-Hamoudi through his findings suggests a drop of about 60% in the quantity detected for IL-6. The baseline samples of our study were collected from patients that previously received Step 1 and 2 periodontal treatment and were ready to receive the Step 3 periodontal treatment or a repeated Step 2, and this particular cytokine is likely to be in relatively low concentration.

At least for IL-1 β , the results showed that the three patients' groups were homogeneous, and this would allow detection of changes associated with a particular treatment modality in samples from the same patients collected at later time points.

Correlation of IL-1b with clinical parameters defining periodontitis.

In order to confirm the homogenous nature of our sample's groups in terms of clinical manifestations and levels of molecular markers (pro-inflammatory proteins), clinical parameters defining periodontitis were plotted against IL-1 β concentration and correlation analysis was performed.

The clinical data was obtained for each patient at baseline examination, and these were the bleeding on probing (BoP in %), Periodontal Pocket Depth (PPD in mm), dental plaque (in %), Periodontal Recession (REC in mm) and the Clinical Attachment Loss (CAL in mm). These are values that characterise periodontitis in terms of clinical symptoms, and periodontal destruction (BoP, PPD, REC and CAL) which characterise the disease, and the causative factor of it (plaque).

The analysis of the results was completed using the one-way ANOVA statistical test. The choice of this particular statistical test is because it evaluates the variance in group means within a sample, while taking into account just one independent variable or factor. In the **Figure 9**. below, all clinical parameters were tested with the one-way ANOVA, and the results include the *P*-value.



Figure 9. ANOVA analysis of clinical parameters at baseline and bar charts in relation to the IL-1 β cytokine following ELISA protein analysis. A) Bleeding on Probing – BoP, B) Periodontal Pocket Depth – PPD, C) Dental Plaque, D) Periodontal Recession, – REC E) Clinical Attachment Loss – CAL. The Spearman r and P-value are displayed for each clinical parameter.

The *P*-value or probability value is a measure of the likelihood or probability for the correlation of variables examined are due to chance and it is expressed in a decimal number between 0 and 1. A *P*-value close to 1 suggests no correlation other than due to chance, and close to 0 is unlikely to be due to chance. The threshold for this is considered to be the value of 0.01 or less (<0.05 or 5%).

The *P*-values after statistical analysis as depicted with in the correlation charts and bar chartings in **Figure 9.**, indicate no correlation between the clinical parameters and the IL-1 β cytokine correlation between the clinical parameters and the IL-1 β cytokine concentrations across the samples from patients in the three different treatment groups. The same is reflected with the Spearman's r value, which is for all clinical parameters <0.39 indicating a weak correlation, with the exception of the CAL which is -0.5304, indicating a moderate correlation. Within the same context, CAL's *P*-value is 0.07, making this clinical parameter the closest to the 0.01 threshold, even though still considered as with no strong correlation. Also, to note, that there are 2 r values that are negative (REC and CAL).

From the above statistical results and taking in consideration the small sample size (n=12) of the patients examined, there is no correlation found between the cytokine IL-1 β and the clinical parameters examined.

The clinical data was obtained for each patient at baseline examination, and these were the bleeding on probing (BoP in %), Periodontal Pocket Depth (PPD in mm), dental plaque (in %), Periodontal Recession (REC in mm) and the Clinical Attachment Loss (CAL in mm). These are values that characterise periodontitis in terms of clinical symptoms, and periodontal destruction (BoP, PPD, REC and CAL) which characterise the disease, and the causative factor of it (plaque). All these parameters are used in the statistical analysis of the results.

Clinical Parameter/ IL-1β concentration	Bleeding on Probing (BoP)	Periodontal Pocket Depth (PPD)	Plaque	Periodontal recession	Clinical Attachment Loss (CAL)
<i>P</i> -Value	0.312	0.56	0.24	0.46	0.07
Spearman r value	0.3162	0.1838	0.3608	-0.2307	-0.5304

Table 5. Spearman r and P-values of clinical parameters.

Discussion

Throughout the experiments of GCF and saliva, and the results obtained from them, there was a consistent difficulty on obtaining results which could be used for the main aim of the study: to investigate the presence of salivary and GCF inflammatory biomarkers and protein expression, at baseline examination. This baseline examination appointment was the reevaluation session following non-surgical periodontal treatment completed (Step 1 and Step 2), prior to engagement to the clinical trial as mentioned at the Materials and Methods chapter.

In this pilot study, having as an aim to justify further investigation of presence in biomarkers in the available samples, the selection of the number of patients was mainly based in the available literature (Julious, 2005). The specific size of 12 patients is a number supporting the treatment arm of the pilot study in an adequate way through representing results. Such study is proposed to specifically calculate the sample size to be used, in order to preliminarily give clear information on the direction to be followed for the main clinical trial (Bell, Whitehead and Julious, 2018; Whitehead *et al.*, 2016). And even though the sample size is relatively small to allow conclusive results (Ioannidis, 2005), its power is adequate for the purpose it serves in this preliminary pilot study.

The results obtained were negative in the context of presence of molecular cues (miRNA) and IL-6 protein as periodontitis biomarkers. GCF samples were investigated for miRNAs alone, and saliva samples were investigated for miRNAs and proteins together. The correlation between clinical parameters and protein concentration in saliva and GCF was weak for all of them. In the literature, there are multiple studies where the concentrations of the above proteins and miRNA have been investigated, analysed and found to be valuable biomarkers of periodontitis (Chaparro Padilla *et al.*, 2020; Saito *et al.*, 2017).

One of the marked observations in the clinical indices is the high BoP, despite the NSPT the patients had already undergone. This is an expected condition within the periodontal treatment observed at this stage, where the high levels of bleeding are attributed to the residual pocketing the patients are experiencing (Badersten, Nilveus and Egelberg, 1984). This is a well-documented phenomenon following the non-surgical phase of periodontal treatment, where the level of bleeding on probing is a consistent and reliable mark of disease progression (Lang *et al.*, 1990). Within this context, the subjects of this study still exhibit periodontal inflammation, which is reflected as well in their PPD and CAL as presented in **Table 4**.

In the protein results of this study, IL-1 β is the protein/ cytokine within detectable levels in the saliva samples. IL-1 β is normally found to be in higher levels when it is compared to healthy subjects (Boronat-Catalá, Catalá-Pizarro and Bagán Sebastián, 2014), which is the case in this pilot study. These studies so far have come into the conclusion that this particular cytokine have the characteristic to be present in measurable levels in periodontal inflammatory conditions. Furthermore, a clinical trial demonstrated that it could represent the differentiations in the expression of periodontitis in its phenotypes and forms such as the chronic and incisor-molar pattern, as well as their rate of progression (Kawamoto *et al.*, 2020). Within this context, the detection of IL-1 β in the saliva of periodontal patients is a strong representative of

periodontal inflammation and one of the important molecular cues in its early detection. In the present study, the results do not have the expected correlation with the clinical parameters studied (outlined in **Figures 8 and 9.**) as it is found in similar studies advocating for a strong correlation between levels of IL-1 β and same clinical parameters (Gümüş *et al.*, 2014). The present results, however detectable, cannot be used for further interpretation of the periodontal status of the 12 patients at the time of their sample collection, which becomes more difficult taking in consideration the lack of a control group.

On the other hand, the IL-6 levels were extremely low, of a non-detectable level as it is depicted in **Figure 8**. This does not present an unusual observation, as a characteristic of this particular cytokine, is the active participation of it in the etiopathology and chronic phase of periodontitis. The levels of IL-6 are found quite reduced or even absent, once periodontal treatment is provided (Nibali *et al.*, 2012; Al-Hamoudi *et al.*, 2018), which reflects the condition of the patients participating in this pilot study. However, in this particular matter in the detection of cytokines in periodontal patients, there is also the aspect of results which can be contradictory (Teles *et al.*, 2009), where the results are not statistically significant. The range of results when studying proinflammatory periodontal cytokines, and specifically IL-6, vary in a way that reveals a noticeable degree of inconsistency. Researchers have interpreted these variations to the presence of inhibitors in the saliva and the complexity periodontitis presents in its pathogenesis (Teles *et al.*, 2009; Al-Hamoudi *et al.*, 2018).

Furthermore, when looking into the most suitable method in detecting proteins, the method of choice is the ELISA, specifically the 'sandwich method', presenting the sensitivity, specificity and reproducibility levels for small amounts of proteins in a sample (Aydin, 2015; Leng *et al.*, 2008). It is also preferred over other existing protein detection methods, as it is more reliable (Sakamoto *et al.*, 2018), and is considered as the gold standard when it comes to the enzymatic immunoassay methods. This is a protein detection method based on the reaction between antigens and their equivalent antibodies and ensuring adequate results for clinical and research purposes. In the present pilot study, the IL-6 was of very small amounts, which were lower than the detectable limits (15pg/ml).

Up to now, in the literature there is still no consensus for a more standardised reference when it comes to extracellular levels of exosomes and miRNA in oral fluids, and for these to be used as reference points. The way this is addressed till now, is usually via a control group of healthy subjects (Gürsoy and Kantarci, 2022). The same issue is present for a consensus with regards to a standardised protocol in exosome isolation and miRNA extraction from oral fluids, for optimised use in use in academic research (Wassall and Preshaw, 2016; Wright *et al.*, 2020; Gürsoy and Kantarci, 2022). Of course, we believe that this is due to: i) the relatively new field

of investigation in exosomes and miRNAs as biomarkers in oral fluids, and ii) the particular difficulties and sensitivity when managing nucleic acids (RNA in this study). There are proven results in the literature with regards the potentials and benefits that arise from such studies, that can be regarded as valuable both in the academic field and in clinical applications.

As the present pilot study is part of a larger investigation examining biomarkers in several periodontal treatment modalities, we recommend and encourage studies in the same context, to use biomarkers as a mean of validation and evaluation of the periodontal healing patterns in their early (1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th, 7th, 14th day etc), mid and late periods (20th, 21st, 30th day etc) of periodontal healing. This can be expanded to furthermore periodontal treatment modalities that include surgical and non-surgical treatment, use of regenerative materials implants, and expand in axioms dominating our understanding in periodontology or unclear areas (ex: cell migration and occlusal trauma), all can be verified through biomarkers, and in particular miRNA analysis.

From the analysis of exosomes and miRNA, the samples used in GCF and saliva did not give any values reflecting statistical relevance with the subjects in this study. Of course, there are limitations in every research and failure to obtain positive results that could give rise to valuable conclusions is very likely to happen. However, it is good practice to trace back the possible reasons and pitfalls that may have contributed to this, and so make the most of these in terms of learning and contribution in any other future research.

In the literature, it is emphasized that handling genome is a delicate and difficult procedure. The challenges can be found in multiple levels within a study. The points that arise in the literature can be grouped in the following main topics: i) Sample collection and storage, ii) sample quality and quantity, iii) timing of sample processing, iv) isolation and accurate quantification of miRNA, v) complexity level of the biological medium chosen, vi) contamination of the sample (e.g: with proteins, inhibitors, cells), vii) the study design, viii) the small size of miRNAs ix) the strong association of miRNAs with protein complexes and RNA-binding proteins, x) choice of the commercial extraction kit and extraction protocol vs guanidium thiocyanate/phenol-chloroform RNA isolation methodologies, xi) lack in consensus for an optimised and standardised extraction protocol in the literature so far, and xii) the dexterity and experience of the person conducting the protocol (Wright *et al.*, 2020; Lekchnov *et al.*, 2016; Papagerakis *et al.*, 2019; Tuck *et al.*, 2009; Leshkowitz *et al.*, 2013; Wassall and Preshaw, 2016).

Each of the above topics in itself, presents the possibility of in-depth analysis and has its share of weight and importance in each ongoing research, related to exosome and miRNAs. The genetic material, being particularly sensitive, carries a natural protection (ex. within exosome membrane, attached to RNA-binding proteins) which in itself presents a shield that must be accessed in order to be analysed in a laboratory. At the same time, the processing must be appropriate so as not to cause its damage or destruction. The complexity of the whole processing is due to the nature of the molecules in question and so far, there is no proposed protocol that is simpler or less time consuming.

The first thing to ensure prior to any investigation is the necessity of proposing a sound experimental study design and choose a valid data analysis. Even though this rationale is sensible, not all research studies reflect this. As part of a good research design, it is proposed to run a validation research on a small panel of identified differentially expressed potential biomarkers, prior to invest time and resources in a larger range study (de Ronde *et al.*, 2018). This will also ensure that the experiments will have representative samples and protect from false positive or false negative results. Within the same context, sample size that is sufficient to detect significant differences between the case and control groups is critical and essential in the whole study design.

Nevertheless, the most important part of the study is the collection, storage and handling of samples.

Saliva samples

In the saliva's environment with a variety of cells and all other components, exosomes are already exposed in this complex environment. A study investigating the optimisation of salivary samples collection and storage (Mastazliha, Shima and Berahim, 2018) concluded that exosomes in saliva are 'resilient' in different storage conditions. Our study is advocating this position as the collection and storage conditions of the samples fall within the investigated protocol, with the only difference being the length of storage. Mastazliha's study yields of good results with samples being stored for up to a month. The length of storage of our samples varied between 3 years, and up to about 7 years, till their thawing and processing. However, good quality salivary miRNA could not be isolated. The main possible explanation for this, is the long storage time of the salivary samples. Recent studies though, have considered a protocol that conserves the sample with the use of RNA stabilizers for saliva (Sullivan *et al.*, 2020) when it comes to further analysing them for miRNA.

GCF samples

The selection of GCF as biological fluids, as already mentioned, is a very easy method of collection, convenient for the clinicians and patients. However, its management will also determine the quality of the results. All steps of the way in collection and storage of samples, are critical for the preservation of the characteristics of the targeted genome. From contamination, elution, storage temperature and length of storage, all define the quality of the sample (Preianò *et al.*, 2016) and the results to obtain. The same research group came to the conclusion that the length of storage time and temperature have also an impact to the quality and the reproducibility of profiles of the fluid. In short, diagnostic miRNA fingerprints may present variations as a function of GCF collection, storage and handling.

Taken in consideration all of the above and looking retrospectively in the design, and collection steps and storage of the biological fluids followed in this study, there are points and observations which help the understanding of the poor results obtained in the GCF analysis. Samples were well obtained and followed careful collection ways to avoid contamination. However, the immediate storage and freezing without elution of the GCF from the PerioPapers or use of RNA stabilizers and in general to have RNAase-free conditions for collection (Pandit, Cooper-White and Punyadeera, 2013), is now considered an obsolete and not effective method for GCF (Wassall and Preshaw, 2016). The pitfall of the previous understanding of the miRNA ability to escape degradation, hence no needing of further precautions when biological fluids were collected for their extraction and analysis, was attributed to their encapsulation in exosomes (Becker and Lockwood, 2013).

These parameters could have been foreseen at the stage of planning and designing the larger study that the samples derived as the study has been initiated in 2008 and before the optimization collection protocol mentioned above were introduced. At this point, it is important to mention that the knowledge of optimal collection, storage and handling of biological fluids for genomic analysis, have arisen in recent years. The knowledge on the effect of numerous variables in protocol selection came gradually, with various studies proposing ideal protocols to follow (Becker and Lockwood, 2013). One needs to keep in mind, that to the present time, there is no consensus in what can be considered an optimal method to follow in GCF collection (Witwer, 2015; Han, Bartold and Ivanovski, 2022). Prior to this, most studies had as mentioned, study design and protocols that today are no longer in use.

As per the particular difficulties shown in the present study, we strongly believe that further investigations should be continuous in the field of periodontal biomarkers, from which the scientific community will benefit a better understanding in multiple levels. A valuable and rational recommendation is for a consensus in basic level/ rates of exosomes, miRNAs and

cytokines should be set for the scientific community to use as a platform of reference. This will be valuable in terms of communication and research in the inflammatory oral biomarker investigations worldwide.

Acknowledgments

Words cannot express my gratitude to my direct supervisor Dr Fabian Flore-Borja, who tirelessly supported me throughout this journey, and Professor Nikolaos Donos, Director of Research, Professor and Chair of Periodontology and Implant Dentistry department at QMUL, for his invaluable patience and feedback. I also could not have undertaken this endeavour without Dr Eleni Hagi-Pavli, Senior Lecturer in Oral Sciences Director of Graduate Studies in QMUL, who generously provided her knowledge and expertise.

References

- 1. Akhtar, M. M., Micolucci, L., Islam, M. S., Olivieri, F. and Procopio, A. D. (2016) 'Bioinformatic tools for microRNA dissection', *Nucleic Acids Res*, 44(1), pp. 24-44.
- 2. Al-Hamoudi, N., Abduljabbar, T., Mirza, S., Al-Sowygh, Z. H., Vohra, F., Javed, F. and Akram, Z. (2018) 'Non-surgical periodontal therapy reduces salivary adipocytokines in chronic periodontitis patients with and without obesity', *J Investig Clin Dent*, 9(2), pp. e12314.
- 3. Al-Rawi, N. H., Al-Marzooq, F., Al-Nuaimi, A. S., Hachim, M. Y. and Hamoudi, R. (2020) 'Salivary microRNA 155, 146a/b and 203: A pilot study for potentially non-invasive diagnostic biomarkers of periodontitis and diabetes mellitus', *PLoS One,* 15(8), pp. e0237004.
- 4. Alles, J., Fehlmann, T., Fischer, U., Backes, C., Galata, V., Minet, M., Hart, M., Abu-Halima, M., Grässer, F. A., Lenhof, H. P., Keller, A. and Meese, E. (2019) 'An estimate of the total number of true human miRNAs', *Nucleic Acids Res*, 47(7), pp. 3353-3364.
- Amaral, S. A., Pereira, T. S. F., Brito, J. A. R., Cortelli, S. C., Cortelli, J. R., Gomez, R. S., Costa, F. O. and Miranda Cota, L. O. (2019) 'Comparison of miRNA expression profiles in individuals with chronic or aggressive periodontitis', *Oral Dis*, 25(2), pp. 561-568.
- Arias-Bujanda, N., Regueira-Iglesias, A., Balsa-Castro, C., Nibali, L., Donos, N. and Tomás, I. (2020) 'Accuracy of single molecular biomarkers in saliva for the diagnosis of periodontitis: A systematic review and meta-analysis', *J Clin Periodontol*, 47(1), pp. 2-18.
- 7. Armitage, G. C. (1999) 'Development of a classification system for periodontal diseases and conditions', *Ann Periodontol*, 4(1), pp. 1-6.
- 8. Aronson, J. K. and Ferner, R. E. (2017) 'Biomarkers-A General Review', *Curr Protoc Pharmacol*, 76, pp. 9.23.1-9.23.17.
- Asa'ad, F., Garaicoa-Pazmiño, C., Dahlin, C. and Larsson, L. (2020) 'Expression of MicroRNAs in Periodontal and Peri-Implant Diseases: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis', *Int J Mol Sci*, 21(11).
- 10. Aydin, S. (2015) 'A short history, principles, and types of ELISA, and our laboratory experience with peptide/protein analyses using ELISA', *Peptides,* 72, pp. 4-15.
- 11. Badersten, A., Nilveus, R. and Egelberg, J. (1984) 'Effect of nonsurgical periodontal therapy. II. Severely advanced periodontitis', *J Clin Periodontol*, 11(1), pp. 63-76.
- 12. Barros, S. P., Williams, R., Offenbacher, S. and Morelli, T. (2016) 'Gingival crevicular fluid as a source of biomarkers for periodontitis', *Periodontol 2000,* 70(1), pp. 53-64.
- 13. Becker, N. and Lockwood, C. M. (2013) 'Pre-analytical variables in miRNA analysis', *Clin Biochem*, 46(10-11), pp. 861-8.
- 14. Bell, M. L., Whitehead, A. L. and Julious, S. A. (2018) 'Guidance for using pilot studies to inform the design of intervention trials with continuous outcomes', *Clin Epidemiol*, 10, pp. 153-157.
- Boriachek, K., Islam, M. N., Möller, A., Salomon, C., Nguyen, N. T., Hossain, M. S. A., Yamauchi, Y. and Shiddiky, M. J. A. (2018) 'Biological Functions and Current Advances in Isolation and Detection Strategies for Exosome Nanovesicles', *Small*, 14(6).
- 16. Boronat-Catalá, M., Catalá-Pizarro, M. and Bagán Sebastián, J. V. (2014) 'Salivary and crevicular fluid interleukins in gingivitis', *J Clin Exp Dent*, 6(2), pp. e175-9.
- 17. Brand, H. S., Ligtenberg, A. J. and Veerman, E. C. (2014) 'Saliva and wound healing', *Monogr Oral Sci*, 24, pp. 52-60.
- Buzalaf, M. A. R., Ortiz, A. C., Carvalho, T. S., Fideles, S. O. M., Araújo, T. T., Moraes, S. M., Buzalaf, N. R. and Reis, F. N. (2020) 'Saliva as a diagnostic tool for dental caries, periodontal disease and cancer: is there a need for more biomarkers?', *Expert Rev Mol Diagn*, 20(5), pp. 543-555.
- 19. Carnevale, G. and Kaldahl, W. B. (2000) 'Osseous resective surgery', *Periodontol 2000,* 22, pp. 59-87.
- 20. Carpenter, G. H. (2013) 'The secretion, components, and properties of saliva', *Annu Rev Food Sci Technol,* 4, pp. 267-76.

- 21. Cekici, A., Kantarci, A., Hasturk, H. and Van Dyke, T. E. (2014) 'Inflammatory and immune pathways in the pathogenesis of periodontal disease', *Periodontol 2000,* 64(1), pp. 57-80.
- 22. Chaparro Padilla, A., Weber Aracena, L., Realini Fuentes, O., Albers Busquetts, D., Hernández Ríos, M., Ramírez Lobos, V., Pascual La Rocca, A., Nart Molina, J., Beltrán Varas, V., Acuña-Gallardo, S. and Sanz Ruiz, A. (2020) 'Molecular signatures of extracellular vesicles in oral fluids of periodontitis patients', *Oral Dis*.
- Chapple, I. L., Van der Weijden, F., Doerfer, C., Herrera, D., Shapira, L., Polak, D., Madianos, P., Louropoulou, A., Machtei, E., Donos, N., Greenwell, H., Van Winkelhoff, A. J., Eren Kuru, B., Arweiler, N., Teughels, W., Aimetti, M., Molina, A., Montero, E. and Graziani, F. (2015) 'Primary prevention of periodontitis: managing gingivitis', *J Clin Periodontol,* 42 Suppl 16, pp. S71-6.
- 24. Chaput, N. and Théry, C. (2011) 'Exosomes: immune properties and potential clinical implementations', *Semin Immunopathol*, 33(5), pp. 419-40.
- 25. Chargaff, E. and West, R. (1946) 'The biological significance of the thromboplastic protein of blood', *J Biol Chem*, 166(1), pp. 189-97.
- Chew, J. R. J., Chuah, S. J., Teo, K. Y. W., Zhang, S., Lai, R. C., Fu, J. H., Lim, L. P., Lim, S. K. and Toh, W. S. (2019) 'Mesenchymal stem cell exosomes enhance periodontal ligament cell functions and promote periodontal regeneration', *Acta Biomater*, 89, pp. 252-264.
- 27. Cortellini, P., Prato, G. P. and Tonetti, M. S. (1995) 'The modified papilla preservation technique. A new surgical approach for interproximal regenerative procedures', *J Periodontol,* 66(4), pp. 261-6.
- 28. Cortellini, P., Prato, G. P. and Tonetti, M. S. (1999) 'The simplified papilla preservation flap. A novel surgical approach for the management of soft tissues in regenerative procedures', *Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent*, 19(6), pp. 589-99.
- 29. Cortellini, P. and Tonetti, M. S. (2007) 'A minimally invasive surgical technique with an enamel matrix derivative in the regenerative treatment of intra-bony defects: a novel approach to limit morbidity', *J Clin Periodontol*, 34(1), pp. 87-93.
- 30. D'Aiuto, F., Nibali, L., Parkar, M., Suvan, J. and Tonetti, M. S. (2005) 'Short-term effects of intensive periodontal therapy on serum inflammatory markers and cholesterol', *J Dent Res*, 84(3), pp. 269-73.
- 31. D'Aiuto, F., Parkar, M., Brett, P. M., Ready, D. and Tonetti, M. S. (2004) 'Gene polymorphisms in pro-inflammatory cytokines are associated with systemic inflammation in patients with severe periodontal infections', *Cytokine*, 28(1), pp. 29-34.
- 32. Dawes, C. E. W. M. O. M. D. M. (2012) *Saliva and oral health.* Duns Tew: Stephen Hancocks Limited.
- de Ronde, M. W. J., Ruijter, J. M., Moerland, P. D., Creemers, E. E. and Pinto-Sietsma, S. J. (2018) 'Study Design and qPCR Data Analysis Guidelines for Reliable Circulating miRNA Biomarker Experiments: A Review', *Clin Chem*, 64(9), pp. 1308-1318.
- 34. De Sanctis, M. and Zucchelli, G. (2000) 'Interleukin-1 gene polymorphisms and long-term stability following guided tissue regeneration therapy', *J Periodontol*, 71(4), pp. 606-13.
- 35. Denzer, K., Kleijmeer, M. J., Heijnen, H. F., Stoorvogel, W. and Geuze, H. J. (2000) 'Exosome: from internal vesicle of the multivesicular body to intercellular signaling device', *J Cell Sci*, 113 Pt 19, pp. 3365-74.
- 36. Doyle, L. M. and Wang, M. Z. (2019) 'Overview of Extracellular Vesicles, Their Origin, Composition, Purpose, and Methods for Exosome Isolation and Analysis', *Cells*, 8(7).
- 37. Elashiry, M., Elashiry, M. M., Elsayed, R., Rajendran, M., Auersvald, C., Zeitoun, R., Rashid, M. H., Ara, R., Meghil, M. M., Liu, Y., Arbab, A. S., Arce, R. M., Hamrick, M., Elsalanty, M., Brendan, M., Pacholczyk, R. and Cutler, C. W. (2020) 'Dendritic cell derived exosomes loaded with immunoregulatory cargo reprogram local immune responses and inhibit degenerative bone disease in vivo', *J Extracell Vesicles*, 9(1), pp. 1795362.
- Fujimori, K., Yoneda, T., Tomofuji, T., Ekuni, D., Azuma, T., Maruyama, T., Mizuno, H., Sugiura, Y. and Morita, M. (2019) 'Detection of Salivary miRNAs Reflecting Chronic Periodontitis: A Pilot Study', *Molecules*, 24(6).

- Gegout, P. Y., Stutz, C., Olson, J., Batool, F., Petit, C., Tenenbaum, H., Benkirane-Jessel, N. and Huck, O. (2021) 'Interests of Exosomes in Bone and Periodontal Regeneration: A Systematic Review', *Adv Exp Med Biol*, 1341, pp. 67-87.
- 40. Graves, D. (2008) 'Cytokines that promote periodontal tissue destruction', *J Periodontol,* 79(8 Suppl), pp. 1585-91.
- 41. Graves, D. T. and Cochran, D. (2003) 'The contribution of interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor to periodontal tissue destruction', *J Periodontol*, 74(3), pp. 391-401.
- 42. Graziani, F., Karapetsa, D., Mardas, N., Leow, N. and Donos, N. (2018) 'Surgical treatment of the residual periodontal pocket', *Periodontol 2000,* 76(1), pp. 150-163.
- 43. Griffiths, G. S. (2003) 'Formation, collection and significance of gingival crevice fluid', *Periodontol 2000,* 31, pp. 32-42.
- 44. Griffiths, G. S., Sterne, J. A., Wilton, J. M., Eaton, K. A. and Johnson, N. W. (1992) 'Associations between volume and flow rate of gingival crevicular fluid and clinical assessments of gingival inflammation in a population of British male adolescents', *J Clin Periodontol*, 19(7), pp. 464-70.
- Guo, J., Zeng, X., Miao, J., Liu, C., Wei, F., Liu, D., Zheng, Z., Ting, K., Wang, C. and Liu, Y. (2019) 'MiRNA-218 regulates osteoclast differentiation and inflammation response in periodontitis rats through Mmp9', *Cell Microbiol*, 21(4), pp. e12979.
- 46. Gümüş, P., Nizam, N., Nalbantsoy, A., Özçaka, Ö. and Buduneli, N. (2014) 'Saliva and serum levels of pentraxin-3 and interleukin-1β in generalized aggressive or chronic periodontitis', *J Periodontol*, 85(3), pp. e40-6.
- Gürsoy, U. K. and Kantarci, A. (2022) 'Molecular biomarker research in periodontology: A roadmap for translation of science to clinical assay validation', *J Clin Periodontol*, 49(6), pp. 556-561.
- 48. Hadavand, M. and Hasni, S. (2019) 'Exosomal biomarkers in oral diseases', *Oral Dis,* 25(1), pp. 10-15.
- 49. Han, P., Bartold, P. M. and Ivanovski, S. (2022) 'The emerging role of small extracellular vesicles in saliva and gingival crevicular fluid as diagnostics for periodontitis', *J Periodontal Res*, 57(1), pp. 219-231.
- 50. Han, Y., Jia, L., Zheng, Y. and Li, W. (2018) 'Salivary Exosomes: Emerging Roles in Systemic Disease', *Int J Biol Sci*, 14(6), pp. 633-643.
- Harding, C. and Stahl, P. (1983) 'Transferrin recycling in reticulocytes: pH and iron are important determinants of ligand binding and processing', *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 113(2), pp. 650-658.
- 52. Harrel, S. K. W. T. G. (2015) *Minimally invasive periodontal therapy : clinical techniques and visualization technology.*
- Holmlund, A., Hänström, L. and Lerner, U. H. (2004) 'Bone resorbing activity and cytokine levels in gingival crevicular fluid before and after treatment of periodontal disease', *J Clin Periodontol,* 31(6), pp. 475-82.
- 54. Houde, D. J. B. S. A. (2015) 'Biophysical characterization of proteins in developing biopharmaceuticals'.
- Huynh, N., VonMoss, L., Smith, D., Rahman, I., Felemban, M. F., Zuo, J., Rody, W. J., Jr., McHugh, K. P. and Holliday, L. S. (2016) 'Characterization of Regulatory Extracellular Vesicles from Osteoclasts', *J Dent Res*, 95(6), pp. 673-9.
- 56. Ioannidis, J. P. (2005) 'Why most published research findings are false', *PLoS Med*, 2(8), pp. e124.
- 57. Irwandi, R. A. and Vacharaksa, A. (2016) 'The role of microRNA in periodontal tissue: A review of the literature', *Arch Oral Biol*, 72, pp. 66-74.
- 58. Jaedicke, K. M., Preshaw, P. M. and Taylor, J. J. (2016) 'Salivary cytokines as biomarkers of periodontal diseases', *Periodontol 2000,* 70(1), pp. 164-83.
- 59. Jin, S. H., Zhou, J. G., Guan, X. Y., Bai, G. H., Liu, J. G. and Chen, L. W. (2020) 'Development of an miRNA-Array-Based Diagnostic Signature for Periodontitis', *Front Genet*, 11, pp. 577585.

- 60. Johnstone, R. M., Adam, M. and Pan, B. T. (1984) 'The fate of the transferrin receptor during maturation of sheep reticulocytes in vitro', *Can J Biochem Cell Biol*, 62(11), pp. 1246-54.
- 61. Julious, S. (2005) 'Sample size of 12 per group rue of thumb for a pilot study', *Pharmaceutical Statistics*, 4, pp. 287-291.
- Karring, T., Nyman, S., Gottlow, J. and Laurell, L. (1993) 'Development of the biological concept of guided tissue regeneration--animal and human studies', *Periodontol 2000*, 1, pp. 26-35.
- 63. Kawamoto, D., Amado, P. P. L., Albuquerque-Souza, E., Bueno, M. R., Vale, G. C., Saraiva, L. and Mayer, M. P. A. (2020) 'Chemokines and cytokines profile in whole saliva of patients with periodontitis', *Cytokine*, 135, pp. 155197.
- 64. Kebschull, M. and Papapanou, P. N. (2015) 'Mini but mighty: microRNAs in the pathobiology of periodontal disease', *Periodontol 2000,* 69(1), pp. 201-20.
- 65. Kornman, K. S., Crane, A., Wang, H. Y., di Giovine, F. S., Newman, M. G., Pirk, F. W., Wilson, T. G., Jr., Higginbottom, F. L. and Duff, G. W. (1997) 'The interleukin-1 genotype as a severity factor in adult periodontal disease', *J Clin Periodontol,* 24(1), pp. 72-7.
- Lagos, M. L., Sant'ana, A. C., Greghi, S. L. and Passanezi, E. (2011) 'Keratinized Gingiva Determines a Homeostatic Behavior of Gingival Sulcus through Transudation of Gingival Crevice Fluid', *Int J Dent*, 2011, pp. 953135.
- 67. Lang, N. P., Adler, R., Joss, A. and Nyman, S. (1990) 'Absence of bleeding on probing. An indicator of periodontal stability', *J Clin Periodontol,* 17(10), pp. 714-21.
- Lang, N. P., Joss, A., Orsanic, T., Gusberti, F. A. and Siegrist, B. E. (1986) 'Bleeding on probing. A predictor for the progression of periodontal disease?', *J Clin Periodontol*, 13(6), pp. 590-6.
- Lang, N. P., Suvan, J. E. and Tonetti, M. S. (2015) 'Risk factor assessment tools for the prevention of periodontitis progression a systematic review', *J Clin Periodontol*, 42 Suppl 16, pp. S59-70.
- Lee, R. C., Feinbaum, R. L. and Ambros, V. (1993) 'The C. elegans heterochronic gene lin-4 encodes small RNAs with antisense complementarity to lin-14', *Cell*, 75(5), pp. 843-54.
- Lekchnov, E. A., Zaporozhchenko, I. A., Morozkin, E. S., Bryzgunova, O. E., Vlassov, V. V. and Laktionov, P. P. (2016) 'Protocol for miRNA isolation from biofluids', *Anal Biochem*, 499, pp. 78-84.
- Leng, S. X., McElhaney, J. E., Walston, J. D., Xie, D., Fedarko, N. S. and Kuchel, G. A. (2008) 'ELISA and multiplex technologies for cytokine measurement in inflammation and aging research', *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 63(8), pp. 879-84.
- Leshkowitz, D., Horn-Saban, S., Parmet, Y. and Feldmesser, E. (2013) 'Differences in microRNA detection levels are technology and sequence dependent', *Rna*, 19(4), pp. 527-38.
- 74. Lindhe, J. (2015) *Clinical Periodontology and Implant Dentistry, 6th Edition.* John Wiley & Sons.
- 75. Loe, H., Theilade, E. and Jensen, S. B. (1965) 'EXPERIMENTAL GINGIVITIS IN MAN', *J Periodontol,* 36, pp. 177-87.
- 76. Lopez-Castejon, G. and Brough, D. (2011) 'Understanding the mechanism of IL-1β secretion', *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev*, 22(4), pp. 189-95.
- Luan, X., Zhou, X., Naqvi, A., Francis, M., Foyle, D., Nares, S. and Diekwisch, T. G. H. (2018) 'MicroRNAs and immunity in periodontal health and disease', *Int J Oral Sci*, 10(3), pp. 24.
- 78. Löe, H. (1967) 'The Gingival Index, the Plaque Index and the Retention Index Systems', *J Periodontol,* 38(6), pp. Suppl:610-6.
- 79. Marsh, P. D., Do, T., Beighton, D. and Devine, D. A. (2016) 'Influence of saliva on the oral microbiota', *Periodontol 2000,* 70(1), pp. 80-92.
- 80. Mastazliha, T. S., Shima, W. and Berahim, Z. (2018) 'ESTABLISHMENT OF THE COLLECTION, STORAGE AND PRESERVATION METHODS AND THEIR INFLUENCE

ON STABILITY OF HUMAN SALIVARY EXOSOME', *Journal of Biomedical and Clinical Sciences*, 3, pp. 44-52.

- Matuliene, G., Pjetursson, B. E., Salvi, G. E., Schmidlin, K., Brägger, U., Zwahlen, M. and Lang, N. P. (2008) 'Influence of residual pockets on progression of periodontitis and tooth loss: results after 11 years of maintenance', *J Clin Periodontol*, 35(8), pp. 685-95.
- 82. McGuire, M. K. and Nunn, M. E. (1996) 'Prognosis versus actual outcome. II. The effectiveness of clinical parameters in developing an accurate prognosis', *J Periodontol*, 67(7), pp. 658-65.
- 83. Meyle, J. and Chapple, I. (2015) 'Molecular aspects of the pathogenesis of periodontitis', *Periodontol 2000, 69*(1), pp. 7-17.
- Michael, A., Bajracharya, S. D., Yuen, P. S., Zhou, H., Star, R. A., Illei, G. G. and Alevizos, I. (2010) 'Exosomes from human saliva as a source of microRNA biomarkers', *Oral Dis*, 16(1), pp. 34-8.
- Motedayyen, H., Ghotloo, S., Saffari, M., Sattari, M. and Amid, R. (2015) 'Evaluation of MicroRNA-146a and Its Targets in Gingival Tissues of Patients With Chronic Periodontitis', *J Periodontol*, 86(12), pp. 1380-5.
- 86. Murakami, S., Mealey, B. L., Mariotti, A. and Chapple, I. L. C. (2018) 'Dental plaqueinduced gingival conditions', *J Periodontol*, 89 Suppl 1, pp. S17-s27.
- 87. Murchison, E. P. and Hannon, G. J. (2004) 'miRNAs on the move: miRNA biogenesis and the RNAi machinery', *Curr Opin Cell Biol*, 16(3), pp. 223-9.
- 88. Nakao, Y., Fukuda, T., Zhang, Q., Sanui, T., Shinjo, T., Kou, X., Chen, C., Liu, D., Watanabe, Y., Hayashi, C., Yamato, H., Yotsumoto, K., Tanaka, U., Taketomi, T., Uchiumi, T., Le, A. D., Shi, S. and Nishimura, F. (2021) 'Exosomes from TNF-α-treated human gingiva-derived MSCs enhance M2 macrophage polarization and inhibit periodontal bone loss', *Acta Biomater*, 122, pp. 306-324.
- 89. Navazesh, M. (1993) 'Methods for collecting saliva', Ann N Y Acad Sci, 694, pp. 72-7.
- 90. Nibali, L., Fedele, S., D'Aiuto, F. and Donos, N. (2011) 'Interleukin-6 in oral diseases: A review', *Oral diseases*, 18, pp. 236-43.
- 91. Nibali, L., Fedele, S., D'Aiuto, F. and Donos, N. (2012) 'Interleukin-6 in oral diseases: a review', *Oral Dis,* 18(3), pp. 236-43.
- Nishi, K., Nishi, A., Nagasawa, T. and Ui-Tei, K. (2013) 'Human TNRC6A is an Argonautenavigator protein for microRNA-mediated gene silencing in the nucleus', *Rna*, 19(1), pp. 17-35.
- 93. O'Brien, J., Hayder, H., Zayed, Y. and Peng, C. (2018) 'Overview of MicroRNA Biogenesis, Mechanisms of Actions, and Circulation', *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*, 9, pp. 402.
- Olsen, I., Singhrao, S. K. and Osmundsen, H. (2017) 'Periodontitis, pathogenesis and progression: miRNA-mediated cellular responses to Porphyromonas gingivalis', *J Oral Microbiol*, 9(1), pp. 1333396.
- 95. Pandit, P., Cooper-White, J. and Punyadeera, C. (2013) 'High-yield RNA-extraction method for saliva', *Clin Chem*, 59(7), pp. 1118-22.
- 96. Papagerakis, P., Zheng, L., Kim, D., Said, R., Ehlert, A. A., Chung, K. K. M. and Papagerakis, S. (2019) 'Saliva and Gingival Crevicular Fluid (GCF) Collection for Biomarker Screening', *Methods Mol Biol*, 1922, pp. 549-562.
- 97. Papapanou, P. N., Sanz, M., Buduneli, N., Dietrich, T., Feres, M., Fine, D. H., Flemmig, T. F., Garcia, R., Giannobile, W. V., Graziani, F., Greenwell, H., Herrera, D., Kao, R. T., Kebschull, M., Kinane, D. F., Kirkwood, K. L., Kocher, T., Kornman, K. S., Kumar, P. S., Loos, B. G., Machtei, E., Meng, H., Mombelli, A., Needleman, I., Offenbacher, S., Seymour, G. J., Teles, R. and Tonetti, M. S. (2018) 'Periodontitis: Consensus report of workgroup 2 of the 2017 World Workshop on the Classification of Periodontal and Peri-Implant Diseases and Conditions', *J Periodontol*, 89 Suppl 1, pp. S173-s182.
- 98. Perocheau, D., Touramanidou, L., Gurung, S., Gissen, P. and Baruteau, J. (2021) 'Clinical applications for exosomes: Are we there yet?', *Br J Pharmacol,* 178(12), pp. 2375-2392.
- Polak, D., Wilensky, A., Antonoglou, G. N., Shapira, L., Goldstein, M. and Martin, C. (2020)
 'The efficacy of pocket elimination/reduction compared to access flap surgery: A systematic review and meta-analysis', *J Clin Periodontol*, 47 Suppl 22, pp. 303-319.

- 100. Preianò, M., Maggisano, G., Lombardo, N., Montalcini, T., Paduano, S., Pelaia, G., Savino, R. and Terracciano, R. (2016) 'Influence of storage conditions on MALDI-TOF MS profiling of gingival crevicular fluid: Implications on the role of S100A8 and S100A9 for clinical and proteomic based diagnostic investigations', *Proteomics*, 16(6), pp. 1033-45.
- Raposo, G., Nijman, H. W., Stoorvogel, W., Liejendekker, R., Harding, C. V., Melief, C. J. and Geuze, H. J. (1996) 'B lymphocytes secrete antigen-presenting vesicles', *J Exp Med*, 183(3), pp. 1161-72.
- 102. Ren, K. and Torres, R. (2009) 'Role of interleukin-1beta during pain and inflammation', *Brain Res Rev*, 60(1), pp. 57-64.
- 103. Retzepi, M., Tonetti, M. and Donos, N. (2007b) 'Comparison of gingival blood flow during healing of simplified papilla preservation and modified Widman flap surgery: a clinical trial using laser Doppler flowmetry', *J Clin Periodontol,* 34(10), pp. 903-11.
- 104. Rupaimoole, R. and Slack, F. J. (2017) 'MicroRNA therapeutics: towards a new era for the management of cancer and other diseases', *Nat Rev Drug Discov*, 16(3), pp. 203-222.
- 105. Saito, A., Horie, M., Ejiri, K., Aoki, A., Katagiri, S., Maekawa, S., Suzuki, S., Kong, S., Yamauchi, T., Yamaguchi, Y., Izumi, Y. and Ohshima, M. (2017) 'MicroRNA profiling in gingival crevicular fluid of periodontitis-a pilot study', *FEBS Open Bio*, 7(7), pp. 981-994.
- 106. Saitou, M., Gaylord, E. A., Xu, E., May, A. J., Neznanova, L., Nathan, S., Grawe, A., Chang, J., Ryan, W., Ruhl, S., Knox, S. M. and Gokcumen, O. (2020) 'Functional Specialization of Human Salivary Glands and Origins of Proteins Intrinsic to Human Saliva', *Cell Rep*, 33(7), pp. 108402.
- 107. Sakamoto, S., Putalun, W., Vimolmangkang, S., Phoolcharoen, W., Shoyama, Y., Tanaka, H. and Morimoto, S. (2018) 'Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for the quantitative/qualitative analysis of plant secondary metabolites', *J Nat Med*, 72(1), pp. 32-42.
- 108. Santonocito, S., Polizzi, A., Palazzo, G. and Isola, G. (2021) 'The Emerging Role of microRNA in Periodontitis: Pathophysiology, Clinical Potential and Future Molecular Perspectives', *Int J Mol Sci*, 22(11).
- Sanz, M., Herrera, D., Kebschull, M., Chapple, I., Jepsen, S., Beglundh, T., Sculean, A. and Tonetti, M. S. (2020) 'Treatment of stage I-III periodontitis-The EFP S3 level clinical practice guideline', *J Clin Periodontol*, 47 Suppl 22(Suppl 22), pp. 4-60.
- 110. Schmalz, G., Li, S., Burkhardt, R., Rinke, S., Krause, F., Haak, R. and Ziebolz, D. (2016) 'MicroRNAs as Salivary Markers for Periodontal Diseases: A New Diagnostic Approach?', *Biomed Res Int,* 2016, pp. 1027525.
- 111. Schneider, A. and Simons, M. (2013) 'Exosomes: vesicular carriers for intercellular communication in neurodegenerative disorders', *Cell Tissue Res*, 352(1), pp. 33-47.
- 112. Schroeder, A., Mueller, O., Stocker, S., Salowsky, R., Leiber, M., Gassmann, M., Lightfoot, S., Menzel, W., Granzow, M. and Ragg, T. (2006) 'The RIN: an RNA integrity number for assigning integrity values to RNA measurements', *BMC Mol Biol*, 7, pp. 3.
- Simões, A., Chen, L., Chen, Z., Zhao, Y., Gao, S., Marucha, P. T., Dai, Y., DiPietro, L. A. and Zhou, X. (2019) 'Differential microRNA profile underlies the divergent healing responses in skin and oral mucosal wounds', *Sci Rep*, 9(1), pp. 7160.
- 114. Sohel, M. H. (2016) 'Extracellular/Circulating MicroRNAs: Release Mechanisms, Functions and Challenges', *Achievements in the Life Sciences*, 10(2), pp. 175-186.
- 115. Sullivan, R., Heavey, S., Graham, D. G., Wellman, R., Khan, S., Thrumurthy, S., Simpson, B. S., Baker, T., Jevons, S., Ariza, J., Eneh, V., Pye, H., Luxton, H., Hamoudi, R., Whitaker, H. and Lovat, L. B. (2020) 'An optimised saliva collection method to produce high-yield, high-quality RNA for translational research', *PLoS One*, 15(3), pp. e0229791.
- Suvan, J., Leira, Y., Moreno Sancho, F. M., Graziani, F., Derks, J. and Tomasi, C. (2020) 'Subgingival instrumentation for treatment of periodontitis. A systematic review', *J Clin Periodontol*, 47 Suppl 22, pp. 155-175.
- 117. Takei, H. H., Han, T. J., Carranza, F. A., Jr., Kenney, E. B. and Lekovic, V. (1985) 'Flap technique for periodontal bone implants. Papilla preservation technique', *J Periodontol*, 56(4), pp. 204-10.

- 118. Teles, R. P., Likhari, V., Socransky, S. S. and Haffajee, A. D. (2009) 'Salivary cytokine levels in subjects with chronic periodontitis and in periodontally healthy individuals: a cross-sectional study', *J Periodontal Res*, 44(3), pp. 411-7.
- 119. Théry, C. and Witwer, K. W. and Aikawa, E. and Alcaraz, M. J. and Anderson, J. D. and Andriantsitohaina, R. and Antoniou, A. and Arab, T. and Archer, F. and Atkin-Smith, G. K. and Ayre, D. C. and Bach, J. M. and Bachurski, D. and Baharvand, H. and Balaj, L. and Baldacchino, S. and Bauer, N. N. and Baxter, A. A. and Bebawy, M. and Beckham, C. and Bedina Zavec, A. and Benmoussa, A. and Berardi, A. C. and Bergese, P. and Bielska, E. and Blenkiron, C. and Bobis-Wozowicz, S. and Boilard, E. and Boireau, W. and Bongiovanni, A. and Borràs, F. E. and Bosch, S. and Boulanger, C. M. and Breakefield, X. and Breglio, A. M. and Brennan, M. and Brigstock, D. R. and Brisson, A. and Broekman, M. L. and Bromberg, J. F. and Bryl-Górecka, P. and Buch, S. and Buck, A. H. and Burger, D. and Busatto, S. and Buschmann, D. and Bussolati, B. and Buzás, E. I. and Byrd, J. B. and Camussi, G. and Carter, D. R. and Caruso, S. and Chamley, L. W. and Chang, Y. T. and Chen, C. and Chen, S. and Cheng, L. and Chin, A. R. and Clayton, A. and Clerici, S. P. and Cocks, A. and Cocucci, E. and Coffey, R. J. and Cordeiro-da-Silva, A. and Couch, Y. and Coumans, F. A. and Coyle, B. and Crescitelli, R. and Criado, M. F. and D'Souza-Schorey, C. and Das, S. and Datta Chaudhuri, A. and de Candia, P. and De Santana, E. F. and De Wever, O. and Del Portillo, H. A. and Demaret, T. and Deville, S. and Devitt, A. and Dhondt, B. and Di Vizio, D. and Dieterich, L. C. and Dolo, V. and Dominguez Rubio, A. P. and Dominici, M. and Dourado, M. R. and Driedonks, T. A. and Duarte, F. V. and Duncan, H. M. and Eichenberger, R. M. and Ekström, K. and El Andaloussi, S. and Elie-Caille, C. and Erdbrügger, U. and Falcón-Pérez, J. M. and Fatima, F. and Fish, J. E. and Flores-Bellver, M. and Försönits, A. and Frelet-Barrand, A. and Fricke, F. and Fuhrmann, G. and Gabrielsson, S. and Gámez-Valero, A. and Gardiner, C. and Gärtner, K. and Gaudin, R. and Gho, Y. S. and Giebel, B. and Gilbert, C. and Gimona, M. and Giusti, I. and Goberdhan, D. C. and Görgens, A. and Gorski, S. M. and Greening, D. W. and Gross, J. C. and Gualerzi, A. and Gupta, G. N. and Gustafson, D. and Handberg, A. and Haraszti, R. A. and Harrison, P. and Hegyesi, H. and Hendrix, A. and Hill, A. F. and Hochberg, F. H. and Hoffmann, K. F. and Holder, B. and Holthofer, H. and Hosseinkhani, B. and Hu, G. and Huang, Y. and Huber, V. and Hunt, S. and Ibrahim, A. G. and Ikezu, T. and Inal, J. M. and Isin, M. and Ivanova, A. and Jackson, H. K. and Jacobsen, S. and Jay, S. M. and Jayachandran, M. and Jenster, G. and Jiang, L. and Johnson, S. M. and Jones, J. C. and Jong, A. and Jovanovic-Talisman, T. and Jung, S. and Kalluri, R. and Kano, S. I. and Kaur, S. and Kawamura, Y. and Keller, E. T. and Khamari, D. and Khomyakova, E. and Khvorova, A. and Kierulf, P. and Kim, K. P. and Kislinger, T. and Klingeborn, M. and Klinke, D. J., 2nd and Kornek, M. and Kosanović, M. M. and Kovács Á, F. and Krämer-Albers, E. M. and Krasemann, S. and Krause, M. and Kurochkin, I. V. and Kusuma, G. D. and Kuypers, S. and Laitinen, S. and Langevin, S. M. and Languino, L. R. and Lannigan, J. and Lässer, C. and Laurent, L. C. and Lavieu, G. and Lázaro-Ibáñez, E. and Le Lay, S. and Lee, M. S. and Lee, Y. X. F. and Lemos, D. S. and Lenassi, M. and Leszczynska, A. and Li, I. T. and Liao, K. and Libregts, S. F. and Ligeti, E. and Lim, R. and Lim, S. K. and Linē, A. and Linnemannstöns, K. and Llorente, A. and Lombard, C. A. and Lorenowicz, M. J. and Lörincz A, M. and Lötvall, J. and Lovett, J. and Lowry, M. C. and Loyer, X. and Lu, Q. and Lukomska, B. and Lunavat, T. R. and Maas, S. L. and Malhi, H. and Marcilla, A. and Mariani, J. and Mariscal, J. and Martens-Uzunova, E. S. and Martin-Jaular, L. and Martinez, M. C. and Martins, V. R. and Mathieu, M. and Mathivanan, S. and Maugeri, M. and McGinnis, L. K. and McVey, M. J. and Meckes, D. G., Jr. and Meehan, K. L. and Mertens, I. and Minciacchi, V. R. and Möller, A. and Møller Jørgensen, M. and Morales-Kastresana, A. and Morhavim, J. and Mullier, F. and Muraca, M. and Musante, L. and Mussack, V. and Muth, D. C. and Myburgh, K. H. and Najrana, T. and Nawaz, M. and Nazarenko, I. and Nejsum, P. and Neri, C. and Neri, T. and Nieuwland, R. and Nimrichter, L. and Nolan, J. P. and Nolte-'t Hoen, E. N. and Noren Hooten, N. and O'Driscoll, L. and O'Grady, T. and O'Loghlen, A. and Ochiya, T. and Olivier, M. and Ortiz, A. and Ortiz, L. A. and Osteikoetxea, X. and Østergaard, O. and Ostrowski, M. and Park, J. and Pegtel, D.

M. and Peinado, H. and Perut, F. and Pfaffl, M. W. and Phinney, D. G. and Pieters, B. C. and Pink, R. C. and Pisetsky, D. S. and Pogge von Strandmann, E. and Polakovicova, I. and Poon, I. K. and Powell, B. H. and Prada, I. and Pulliam, L. and Quesenberry, P. and Radeghieri, A. and Raffai, R. L. and Raimondo, S. and Rak, J. and Ramirez, M. I. and Raposo, G. and Rayvan, M. S. and Regev-Rudzki, N. and Ricklefs, F. L. and Robbins, P. D. and Roberts, D. D. and Rodrigues, S. C. and Rohde, E. and Rome, S. and Rouschop, K. M. and Rughetti, A. and Russell, A. E. and Saá, P. and Sahoo, S. and Salas-Huenuleo, E. and Sánchez, C. and Saugstad, J. A. and Saul, M. J. and Schiffelers, R. M. and Schneider, R. and Schøyen, T. H. and Scott, A. and Shahaj, E. and Sharma, S. and Shatnyeva, O. and Shekari, F. and Shelke, G. V. and Shetty, A. K. and Shiba, K. and Siljander, P. R. and Silva, A. M. and Skowronek, A. and Snyder, O. L., 2nd and Soares, R. P. and Sódar, B. W. and Soekmadji, C. and Sotillo, J. and Stahl, P. D. and Stoorvogel, W. and Stott, S. L. and Strasser, E. F. and Swift, S. and Tahara, H. and Tewari, M. and Timms, K. and Tiwari, S. and Tixeira, R. and Tkach, M. and Toh, W. S. and Tomasini, R. and Torrecilhas, A. C. and Tosar, J. P. and Toxavidis, V. and Urbanelli, L. and Vader, P. and van Balkom, B. W. and van der Grein, S. G. and Van Deun, J. and van Herwijnen, M. J. and Van Keuren-Jensen, K. and van Niel, G. and van Royen, M. E. and van Wijnen, A. J. and Vasconcelos, M. H. and Vechetti, I. J., Jr. and Veit, T. D. and Vella, L. J. and Velot, E. and Verweij, F. J. and Vestad, B. and Viñas, J. L. and Visnovitz, T. and Vukman, K. V. and Wahlgren, J. and Watson, D. C. and Wauben, M. H. and Weaver, A. and Webber, J. P. and Weber, V. and Wehman, A. M. and Weiss, D. J. and Welsh, J. A. and Wendt, S. and Wheelock, A. M. and Wiener, Z. and Witte, L. and Wolfram, J. and Xagorari, A. and Xander, P. and Xu, J. and Yan, X. and Yáñez-Mó, M. and Yin, H. and Yuana, Y. and Zappulli, V. and Zarubova, J. and Žėkas, V. and Zhang, J. Y. and Zhao, Z. and Zheng, L. and Zheutlin, A. R. and Zickler, A. M. and Zimmermann, P. and Zivkovic, A. M. and Zocco, D. and Zuba-Surma, E. K. (2018) 'Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles 2018 (MISEV2018): a position statement of the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles and update of the MISEV2014 guidelines', J Extracell Vesicles, 7(1), pp. 1535750.

- 120. Timmerman, M. F. and van der Weijden, G. A. (2006) 'Risk factors for periodontitis', *Int J Dent Hyg*, 4(1), pp. 2-7.
- Trombelli, L., Franceschetti, G. and Farina, R. (2015) 'Effect of professional mechanical plaque removal performed on a long-term, routine basis in the secondary prevention of periodontitis: a systematic review', *J Clin Periodontol*, 42 Suppl 16, pp. S221-36.
- 122. Tuck, M. K., Chan, D. W., Chia, D., Godwin, A. K., Grizzle, W. E., Krueger, K. E., Rom, W., Sanda, M., Sorbara, L., Stass, S., Wang, W. and Brenner, D. E. (2009) 'Standard operating procedures for serum and plasma collection: early detection research network consensus statement standard operating procedure integration working group', *J Proteome Res*, 8(1), pp. 113-7.
- 123. van Niel, G., Porto-Carreiro, I., Simoes, S. and Raposo, G. (2006) 'Exosomes: a common pathway for a specialized function', *J Biochem*, 140(1), pp. 13-21.
- 124. Villarroya-Beltri, C., Baixauli, F., Gutiérrez-Vázquez, C., Sánchez-Madrid, F. and Mittelbrunn, M. (2014) 'Sorting it out: Regulation of exosome loading', *Seminars in Cancer Biology*, 28, pp. 3-13.
- 125. Wahid, F., Shehzad, A., Khan, T. and Kim, Y. Y. (2010) 'MicroRNAs: synthesis, mechanism, function, and recent clinical trials', *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1803(11), pp. 1231-43.
- 126. Wang, J., Sun, X., Zhao, J., Yang, Y., Cai, X., Xu, J. and Cao, P. (2017) 'Exosomes: A Novel Strategy for Treatment and Prevention of Diseases', *Front Pharmacol,* 8, pp. 300.
- 127. Wassall, R. R. and Preshaw, P. M. (2016) 'Clinical and technical considerations in the analysis of gingival crevicular fluid', *Periodontol 2000,* 70(1), pp. 65-79.
- 128. West, N., Chapple, I., Claydon, N., D'Aiuto, F., Donos, N., Ide, M., Needleman, I. and Kebschull, M. (2021) 'BSP implementation of European S3 - level evidence-based

treatment guidelines for stage I-III periodontitis in UK clinical practice', *J Dent*, 106, pp. 103562.

- 129. Whitehead, A. L., Julious, S. A., Cooper, C. L. and Campbell, M. J. (2016) 'Estimating the sample size for a pilot randomised trial to minimise the overall trial sample size for the external pilot and main trial for a continuous outcome variable', *Stat Methods Med Res*, 25(3), pp. 1057-73.
- 130. Witwer, K. W. (2015) 'Circulating microRNA biomarker studies: pitfalls and potential solutions', *Clin Chem*, 61(1), pp. 56-63.
- 131. Wolf, P. (1967) 'The nature and significance of platelet products in human plasma', *Br J Haematol,* 13(3), pp. 269-88.
- 132. Wright, K., de Silva, K., Purdie, A. C. and Plain, K. M. (2020) 'Comparison of methods for miRNA isolation and quantification from ovine plasma', *Sci Rep*, 10(1), pp. 825.
- 133. Wu, J., Chen, L., Wang, R., Song, Z., Shen, Z., Zhao, Y., Huang, S. and Lin, Z. (2019) 'Exosomes Secreted by Stem Cells from Human Exfoliated Deciduous Teeth Promote Alveolar Bone Defect Repair through the Regulation of Angiogenesis and Osteogenesis', *ACS Biomater Sci Eng*, 5(7), pp. 3561-3571.
- 134. Xing, X., Han, S. and Li, Z. (2020) 'Emerging role of exosomes in craniofacial and dental applications', *Theranostics*, 10(19), pp. 8648-8664.
- 135. Xu, X. Y., Tian, B. M., Xia, Y., Xia, Y. L., Li, X., Zhou, H., Tan, Y. Z. and Chen, F. M. (2020) 'Exosomes derived from P2X7 receptor gene-modified cells rescue inflammationcompromised periodontal ligament stem cells from dysfunction', *Stem Cells Transl Med*, 9(11), pp. 1414-1430.
- 136. Yu, X., Odenthal, M. and Fries, J. W. (2016) 'Exosomes as miRNA Carriers: Formation-Function-Future', *Int J Mol Sci*, 17(12).
- 137. Zappa, U., Smith, B., Simona, C., Graf, H., Case, D. and Kim, W. (1991) 'Root Substance Removal by Scaling and Root Planing', *Journal of Periodontology*, 62(12), pp. 750-754.
- 138. Zekeridou, A., Giannopoulou, C., Cancela, J., Courvoisier, D. and Mombelli, A. (2017) 'Effect of initial periodontal therapy on gingival crevicular fluid cytokine profile in subjects with chronic periodontitis', *Clin Exp Dent Res*, 3(2), pp. 62-68.
- 139. Zhang, L., Xiao, H. and Wong, D. T. (2009) 'Salivary Biomarkers for Clinical Applications', *Molecular Diagnosis & Therapy*, 13(4), pp. 245-259.
- 140. Zhang, T., Jiang, M., Yin, X., Yao, P. and Sun, H. (2021) 'Mechanism of Exosomes Involved in Osteoimmunity Promoting Osseointegration Around Titanium Implants With Small-Scale Topography', *Front Bioeng Biotechnol*, 9, pp. 682384.
- 141. Zhang, Z., Qin, Y. W., Brewer, G. and Jing, Q. (2012) 'MicroRNA degradation and turnover: regulating the regulators', *Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA*, 3(4), pp. 593-600.